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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

The Group achieved a turnaround for the year ended 31st
March, 2013 recording a profit attributable to shareholders of
approximately HK$9 million, compared to a loss attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$24 million recorded the
previous year. Turnover increased by 5% to approximately
HK$1,428 million.

The turnaround was achieved against the uncertain market
conditions prevailing in Europe and the United States. By
adopting proactive marketing strategies to develop high growth
sectors and provide innovative products and services, the Group
was able to maintain its orders with major international clients
while building up new customers. Internally, the Group moved
forward with lean management and automation to meet the
challenge of rising operating costs. Other measures such as
standardization and optimization of operating procedures also

contributed to higher efficiency.

The Group’s eastern China operation achieved significant
improvement during the year under review, reverting to profit
and spearheading the Group’s expansion of domestic sales in
China.

increase in turnover, but has yet to return to profit due to the

The southern China operation recorded a marginal

constraints of higher operating costs and intensified competition
in the southern provinces. The Southeast Asia operation
experienced a decline in both turnover and profit due to poor
sentiment in major markets and a temporary dilutive effect

brought by the start-up of the new Malaysian plant.

In terms of sales, both printing and packaging as well as paper
products recorded a growth. The United States remained as the
Group’s largest market during the year under review, followed
by Europe. The Group will continue with its plans to grow
domestic sales in China and expand into other markets, focusing
on high growth sectors and non-seasonal orders. Major effort will
also be made to increase the positive impact of lean
management and together with other comprehensive measures to
enhance the Group’s profitability. Details of these measures and
their implementation are described in the “Business Review and

section.

Prospects”
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Automation Research & Oevelopment Centre
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To control the ever-rising costs of human resources and production,
Starlite endeavors to develop automated production lines.

Our engineering department self designs and manufactures automation
equipments aimed at improving quality, raising efficiency, lowering costs
and eventually boosting our competitiveness.
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Electronic products
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Multimedia Creative Centre
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Our creative design team is staffed by creative and inspirational professionals who are young at heart
and quick to act. They are working to develop own brand-name products with innovation as the
key. They also craft new products, which are centred around “Stylish Lifeline” and “Living Green”.
To assist customers in developing new products, we also provide full spectrum of high-quality ODM
services, including but not limited to product design, graphic design, packaging design and structural
design.

Wood products »



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1 cent (2012:
HK1 cent) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2013
payable on Wednesday, 18th September, 2013 to shareholders
whose names appear on the Register of Members on Friday,
23rd August, 2013. Together with the interim dividend of HK1
cent (2012: HK1 cent) paid, the aggregate dividend for the
financial year would be HK2 cents per share (2012: HK2 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

Global economic conditions were clouded by volatility and
uncertainty during the year ended 31st March, 2013. Growth
was slow and unsteady in the United States; Europe was plunged
into a crisis by the sovereign debt issue; and little improvement
was seen in the economy of Japan. Under the circumstances,
multinational importers and domestic retailers showed great

caution in placing orders. Some major brands adopted
consolidated purchasing programmes under which goods and
services were purchased in larger quantities from fewer suppliers

to achieve better pricing and/or services.

Against this background, manufacturers in China were further hit
by rising operating costs. As an illustration, the minimum wages
in Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou, where the
Group’s plants are located, increased during the year under
review, in most cases by double digits. Moreover, further
increases were made in Guangzhou and Shaoguan in May 2013,
by double digits, respectively. Apart from wages, other operating
expenses such as utilities also increased during the year under

review.

Confronting these challenges, the Group took solid action to
expand its market and strive for profit. A customer-oriented
marketing strategy was adopted to allocate more resources to

customers in the high growth sectors with non-seasonal orders,

or with products that are mainly targeting the Chinese market.
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Professional Recognition

EWNFRE 2012FEmiElidm LHsELHEEIA ]
Starlite awarded “The Lean Best Practice Award 2012”
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We are proud to announce that we have been awarded “The Lean Best Practice Award 2012”
by Hallmark, US’s largest greeting card company. This award recognizes our achievements in
the Lean Factory Assessment.

2013 HALLMARK SUPPLIER SUMMIT
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Starlite is invited to participate in
the 2013 Hallmark Supplier Summit
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Receiving the “ Lean House ” award from Mr. Phil Turner
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Mr. Angus Tai, SVP of Starlite delivering a
speech on “Lean and Innovation”
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Starlite obtains 0S Certificate
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The food packaging market, which is stable and showing potential £

growth is an area we are exploring. M B AMAEE. BERYE e
To meet the requirement of customers in the industry, we started
the QS (Quality Safety) authentication in order to become a
qualified food packaging manufacturer.

In March of 2013, Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd successfully
obtained the QS certificate from AQSIQ (General Administration of
Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the People’s e
Republic of China). We commit that all materials used in food f[: I" L Ifii HJ-
packaging are clean, non-toxic and harmless. i
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Moreover, the Group capitalized on its design and innovation
capabilities to engage in original design manufacturing (ODM) as
a means to develop new markets such as Japan. This strategy
was implemented through the appointment of regional sales
agents and attending trade fairs. For instance, the Group attended
Japan’s leading trade fair Giftex World 2012 to showcase the
Group’s original design products such as cosmetics packaging

and wooden products.

Internally, the Group accelerated the adoption of lean
manufacturing and allocated additional resources to automation
to further reduce reliance on unskilled labour and increase
efficiency. Together with standardization and optimization of
operating procedures, such measures helped alleviate the
negative impact of higher operating costs on the Group’s

operation.

Driven by cost-saving measures and stronger sales initiatives, the
Group's eastern China operation was able to make a turnaround
to profit during the year under review. More encouragingly, there
are favourable signs that the eastern China operation is gaining
ground in expanding domestic sales in China. The management
is making dedicated effort to pursue this development with the
belief that such development will enable the Group to further

improve its performance.

Moving forward, given the high uncertainty prevailing the world
economy, the Group will continue to maintain a strong financial
position and prudent capital investment. In the longer term, apart
from the expansion of domestic sales in China, the Group will
also explore other means to better utilize its manufacturing

network and resources in China.

Southern China Operation

The Group’s southern China operation recorded a small increase
in turnover during the year ended 31st March, 2013. However,
its profitability was adversely affected by the lower price of

orders due to strong competition and the higher operating costs

in southern China.
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SENHRI(RARBR)BRLE EREZLANL :
Our Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. has been relocated
to the following new site:

ik Address :

PLO17, Jalan Persiaran Teknologi, Taman
Teknologi Johor, Senai, Johor 81400.

E&E Tel : 607 5980111
fEE Fax : 607 5980110

A FIEHMERFEEERUERALE
All machineries and equipments are
set up ready for operation.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Facing these challenges, the southern China operation stepped
up implementation of lean manufacturing, standardization and
automation, with further enhancement and optimization made in
operating procedures, which helped alleviate the impact brought
by the negative factors. As a further means to increase its long-
term competitiveness, the southern China operation has been
actively expanding into original design manufacturing (ODM),
targeting Japan, the world’s third largest economy, as the first

market to explore.

Looking ahead, the Group’s southern China operation and
eastern China operation will adopt a flexible and proactive
approach to work together with customers in the high growth
sectors to expand domestic sales in China. Such sectors include
information technology, food and cosmetics. In addition, more
orders that are labour intensive or craft demanding in nature will
be allocated to Shaoguan to take advantage of the relatively

lower costs there.

The management will also explore other means to better utilize
the Group’s manufacturing network and resources in southern
China. In the near term, given the uncertainty prevailing on the
global economic horizon, the southern China division will
continue to strictly control its capital investment and closely

monitor its stocks and customer credits.

During the year under review, Starlite was awarded “The Lean
Best Practice Award 2012” by Hallmark, the largest greeting card
company in the United States, in recognition of the Group’s
effort and performance in the Lean Factory Assessment made by
Hallmark. Being one of the four winners of this outstanding
Award, Starlite shared its experience with over 160 participants

from 34 major suppliers attending the 2013 Hallmark Supplier

Summit held in Shenzhen.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In addition, the Group’s Shaoguan plant was awarded “National
Key Enterprise of Cultural Export” by six state ministries and the
Guangdong Provincial Foreign Economic and Trade Office during
the year under review, which is awarded to an enterprise that is
worthy of capital support by the provincial government.
Moreover, the Shaoguan plant received “Shaoguan’s Law-abiding
Model Enterprise Unit” status granted by the Shaoguan Municipal
Office. Furthermore, Shaoguan’s staff and team were awarded
major honours including “Member of Shaoguan CPPCC”, “Model
Worker of Guangdong Province”, “Excellent Migrant Worker of
Guangdong Province”, “National May Day Women Pacesetter”,

and “Civilized Women of Shaoguan City Northern Guangdong”.

Eastern China Operation

The eastern China operation made a turnaround to profit during
the year ended 31st March, 2013, supported by a double-digit
increase in turnover. This solid improvement was achieved
against a double-digit increase in Suzhou’s minimum wages
beginning June 2012. The improvement was particularly
encouraging as the eastern China operation had made an
impairment provision of HK$28 million last year to reflect its

sustained loss in previous years.

The improvement of the eastern China operation can be
attributed to the strengthening of sales and marketing initiatives;
the targeting of specific sectors that have strong growth potential;
the securing of multinational customers that generate more
positive financial results; and a further increase in domestic
business in China. Internally, the eastern China operation
achieved better cost control and higher saving through further

implementation of lean manufacturing and automation.

In the coming year, the eastern China operation will leverage on
its current strategy to further enhance its sales and margins.
Specifically, additional resources will be allocated to expand
domestic sales in China, for orders covering printing and
packaging as well as labels printing. Such strategy will enable
the Group to expand its market share in China and benefit from

the growing economy of the Yangtze River Delta.

During the year under review, the Group’s eastern China
operation was awarded “Hi-tech Enterprise” status which entitles
it to the “Support Capital for Hi-tech Enterprises” and tax
concessions granted by the government that are beneficial to the

high technology development of the eastern China operation in

the long term.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

South East Asia Operation

The Group’s Singapore subsidiary, Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte
Ltd, experienced a decline in turnover and profit during the year
under review. Poor sentiment in major markets and higher
production costs were major factors causing the setback. The
start-up of a new factory in Johor, Malaysia also brought a
temporary dilutive effect on performance as the parallel running
of the two operations in Singapore and Malaysia resulted in the

overlapping of some costs.

Nonetheless, the management remains positive about the long-
term benefits of this strategic move of “Returning to Malaysia”.
First and foremost, it will enable the Southeast Asia operation to
derive competitive advantage from the lower costs in Malaysia.
As the Malaysian factory progresses towards full-scale production,
such benefit will become more apparent. Moreover, the new
factory is expected to bring orders from Malaysia, providing a
new source of revenue for the Singapore subsidiary. Last but not
least, with an increase in capacity, the Singapore subsidiary will
be in a better position to expand its business in markets such as
Australia and New Zealand, leveraging on its innovative design,

printing and packaging technology.

During the year under review, the Singapore subsidiary received
a Gold Award and a Distinction Award from the distinguished
3R Packaging Awards 2012, an initiative of the Singapore
Packaging Agreement to encourage companies to reduce product
packaging through optimizing production processes, redesigning
packaging, and increasing the reuse and recycling of packaging
waste. Apart from implementing award-winning projects that
make tangible savings, the Singapore subsidiary also conducted
seminars and talks for customers, suppliers and business
associates to share the knowledge of how innovative packaging
designs help reduce the usage of materials without compromising

their structural strength.

In addition, Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte Ltd won 5 Singapore
Packaging Star Awards, 2 AsiaStar Awards and 3 WorldStar
Packaging Awards for its Coca Cola Christmas 2012 Promotion
Box, the Rice Dumpling Box 2012, the Merry Wreath, the CNY
Mandarin Orange Box and the Oreo Go-Paks. The AsiaStar
Award is organized by the Asian Packaging Federation while the
WorldStar competition is organized by the World Packaging
Organization. The latter is a non-profit, non-governmental,
international federation of national packaging institutes and

associations, regional packaging federations and other interested

parties including corporations and trade associations.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group's operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 3Tst
March, 2013, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-

term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$204 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$9 million compared to
approximately HK$8 million recorded last year. Currently, the
Group has Renminbi-denominated loan facilities amounting to
approximately RMB45 million that are available for the Group’s
Shenzhen, Guangzhou, Shaoguan and Suzhou plants for working

capital purposes.

As at 31st March, 2013, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$110 million compared to a working
capital surplus of approximately HK$129 million as at 37Tst
March, 2012. The Group’s net gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2013 was 8% (31st March, 2012: 4%), based on short-term and
long-term bank borrowings, finance lease obligation and bill
payables, net of bank balance and cash of approximately HK$46
million (31st March, 2012: HK$24 million), and shareholders’
funds of approximately HK$561 million (31st March, 2012:
HK$555 million). As at 31st March, 2013, the Group has
breached certain financial covenants of the loan facilities,
management considers the Group has sufficient funds to meet its

operation needs.

CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31st March, 2013, certain assets of the Group with an

aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$50 million
(31st March, 2012: HK$40 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Japanese Yen, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the Group’s
commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating expenses in
Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi exchange rate
exposure. Transaction values involving Japanese Yen or Euro
were primarily related to the Group’s purchase of machinery and

such exposures were generally hedged by forward contracts.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has more than 8,000 employees. The Group

maintains good relationships with its employees, providing them
with competitive packages, incentive schemes as well as various
training programmes. The Group has maintained a Share Option
Scheme under which share options can be granted to certain
employees (including executive directors of the Company) as
incentive for their contribution to the Group. Following the
opening of the “Starlite Institute of Management”, the Group
provides various training and development programmes to staff
on an ongoing basis. The Group will explore the possibility of
launching other special training programmes with universities in
Mainland China and education institutions abroad to enhance its

staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for young
people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman takes the initiative to organize joint efforts

with other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for

the maximum benefits of those in need.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
J The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme
o Support to Student in Jiaying University

o The Federation of Hong Kong Guangzhou Community
Organizations, with donation made to earthquake relief
in SiChuan YaAn City

o Donation to ShanXi Overseas Friendship Association for

poverty relief

LOOKING AHEAD

Following a mission to China on 15th-29th May, 2013 for the
annual Article IV review of the Chinese economy, the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) issued a statement stating that
“despite weak and uncertain global conditions, the Chinese
economy is expected to grow at around 7% percent this year.
The pace of the economy should pick up moderately in the
second half of the year, as the recent credit expansion gains
traction and in line with a projected mild pick-up in the global
economy.” However, the IMF warned about three major
challenges facing China’s reform agenda, one of which being “a
decisive push for rebalancing toward higher household incomes
and consumption”, and suggested that “if growth were to slow
sharply below this year’s target, then on-budget fiscal stimulus
should be used, focusing on measures that support household
incomes and consumption, such as reductions in social

contributions, subsidies to consumption, or targeted social safety

net spending.”
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

The statement highlights the likelihood of a mild recovery of the
global economy in the coming year as well as the need for
China to increase consumption to drive its economic growth in
the long run. The management believes the measures being
taken by the Chinese government to support household incomes
and consumption will provide extensive opportunities for the
Group’s expansion of domestic sales in China. On the other
hand, the Group is also making long-term plans to capture
opportunities that are likely to emerge as the world economy
eventually recovers. Such plans include expanding the capacity
of the Malaysian production plant, transforming the Group into a
high value manufacturer that provides original design
manufacturing (ODM) products, and developing other new
markets such as Japan. As the Group celebrates the 20th
anniversary of its listing this year, the management believes that
the ongoing measures being adopted will steer the Group
through the testing times to generate better results and higher

value for shareholders.
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customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
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On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2013
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Manufacturers across the world faced common challenges in the
year 2012/2013, namely a shrinking marketplace, reduced orders,
and underutilization of capacity. At Starlite, we were further
confronted by rising wages at our four manufacturing bases in
southern and eastern China, which increased by an average of
12%. Other additional challenges included the depreciation of
the United States dollars and Euro against the Chinese Renminbi
on our revenue, the increase in social contributions for staff, the
high turnover of skilful workers, and the continued rise in
operating costs. All these presented a daunting test to the

management’s resolve to survive!

Building on the solid achievement from our lean management
and streamlining exercises last year, the Board took further
action to seek progress for the Group. With a fully revamped
sales and marketing team, we worked diligently and spiritedly to
reinforce our territory and flexibly and systematically to expand
into new areas. Heaven rewards the diligent, bringing an

encouraging start to Starlite.

Reviewing the markets for our traditional business, the United
States recorded a new high in consumer confidence and a
significant increase in household income and saving, giving hope
to a faster demand recovery in this market. In Europe, several
smaller countries were plunged into a debt crisis, while the
major economies were in slackening conditions; the slowdown
in Germany made her difficult to support others in the continent.
As such, the Group is making extra effort to maintain its market
share in Europe. Consumption in Japan was revived with new
growth momentum in the economy following the adoption of
Quantitative Easing measures. The Group’s strategy is to create
our own design products using innovative Japanese technology

and market them to Japan and other countries.

Finally, through new ideas, measures and endeavours, we strived
to expand domestic sales in China and overcome the barriers
that kept us an outsider. Good things come to those who wait.
Now, blessed by a generally positive tone in the Chinese
economy, we should be able to achieve encouraging

breakthrough this year.

In response to the rising costs in Singapore, the Group expanded

its manufacturing capacity in Malaysia, and is hopeful that this

will bring synergy benefits to the Southeast Asia operation.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Against a precarious global economy and an unfavourable
operating environment, Starlite with the dedicated effort of all
staff achieved a turnaround, recording a profit of approximately
HK$9 million for 2012/2013, supported by a rise of 5% in
turnover to HK$1.4 billion. | am optimistic about the outlook in
2013/2014, which should reward our shareholders, staff, bankers

and customers with more satisfactory results.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2013
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22 FINANCIAL SUMMARY BERE

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS meaWlER

Year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-HLEFE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

—EBR-=F %2 T —ZT-FTF —TTNLF

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHET FHET FET FET

Revenue A 1,427,544 1,359,676 1,545,238 1,182,639 1,303,404

Operating profit/(loss) e E R (FE) 27,849 (12,644) 46,447 54,227 85,768

Profit/(loss) for the year & AR &)

attributable to the EEFAEA
equity holders of the FEfE A,

Company (E#5) 9,357 (24,125) 25,060 41,212 59,598

Dividends & 2 10,502 10,502 13,128 13,081 12,909

Basic earnings/(losses) FARNRRQ AR
per share attributable BEARIEER
to the equity holders EARRF
of the Company (& #5) OB
(HK cents) 1.78 (4.59) 4.78 7.92 11.92




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets
Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current

liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Shareholders’ equity

FERBEE

mBEE

mEEE

B A E

BEERRE
Bi&E

FERBEE

BEFE

MR s

MERE
mEMBERRE
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, st April
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
RZB—=F RN_Z——F RZZ—F RZZE—ZTF RZZTTNF
=A=+-8A ZA=+—H ZA=Z+—H8H ZA=+—H mA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT FHET FHET
477,184 465,965 478,261 491,302 512,257
583,359 548,051 589,370 544,432 407,263
(473,543) (418,919) (425,990) (426,698) (332,935)
109,816 129,132 163,380 117,734 74,328
587,000 595,097 641,641 609,036 586,585
(25,773) (39,948) (58,524) (64,268) (84,700)
561,227 555,149 583,117 544,768 501,885
561,227 555,149 583,117 544,768 501,885
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual report
together with the audited financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for
the year ended 31st March, 2013.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out in

Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2013, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 14% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 12% of the

Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder (which,
to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned more than
5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial interest in

the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2013 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

54 of this annual report.

The Directors have declared an interim dividend of HK$0.01 per
ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$5,251,000, which was
paid on 22nd February, 2013.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 1
cent per ordinary share, totalling approximately HK$5,251,000,

and recommend that the Group’s retained profits of

approximately 293,876,000 be carried forward.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 27 and 28,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Note 29 to the accompanying financial

statements.

As at 31st March, 2013, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$31,832,000 was available for distribution to
the Company’s shareholders, of which approximately
HK$5,251,000 has been proposed as the final dividend for the

year.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year
ended 31st March, 2013.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during

the year are set out in Note 16 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Bank loans
Particulars of bank loans as at 31st March, 2013 are set out in

Notes 23 and 33 to the accompanying financial statements.

Pension schemes
Details of the pension schemes are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the vyear, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$201,000 (2012: HK$433,000).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, Chairman

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, Senior Vice President

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Senior Vice President

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all of the
directors will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2013, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Name of Director Capacity

BEEng 51

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner and ERBAR
rmEE interest of spouse REER

Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest of ERBAR

HRELt controlled corporation ZRHAR RS
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus Beneficial owner and ERBEER
BEELE interest of spouse [T #23

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles Beneficial owner gt

Details of share options granted to Directors are separately disclosed under the
heading of Share Option Scheme.

Note:

1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The
entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2013, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A new share option scheme has been adopted by the Company
since 15th August, 2012 (the “New Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may grant
options to the participants as set out in the New Share Option

Scheme.

Summary of the New Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option
Scheme

EETERE

B EXFEESEN R
FINVN TX§$&££ﬁﬁ B ERAARREE
IR =B (EERESHRAEEMEXVE) 2 KK
HEARGEHPHEE KIEE %&%ﬁﬁj%wﬂ
%7&%8"*5%% BRMARNRIRBIMzERZR
KREPEHEREREEFS NBEEN ZZF KK
%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁZ%ﬁ& (B REHN AR AR
BHELBEGRPESGEBEF2ECMAZ#ER
KB BB BLEMBAANBNEARARARRBRAZ
RS KE -

=F=ZR=+—8H"

BREE
AABBZT-—FN\ATHRASRKHERET
(T BEREAEDUABRR _ZEZT_F LA XA
Rz B8 ((EBRETE] UFRRET
ZOEE BN e ARE RIS BT Ym 2 R
ATETBRE -

HEERERT BN ENT

To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests
in the Company and to encourage participants to work towards enhancing

the value of the Company and its shares.

R R 81 B W

REENTRHUBESARFRMAREZEE IHRBH2EA LR NERLR

RA R ER D ZEE-

2. Participants of the New Share Option
Scheme

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(i) Any executive director and non-executive director (excluding

HiEBERT Bl 2 E A
subsidiary.

independent non-executive directors) of the Company or of any

() ARFHEMBAR 2 E2BEES X

(i) RARREMBARZATERRIFRTER (T EIFBLIFNTES)
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3. Total number of shares available for

issue under the New Share Option
Scheme and percentage of issued share
capital as at the date of the annual
report

RE B AR B BT R B R
RERBMESETREABOL

. Maximum entitlement of each participant
under the New Share Option Scheme

ot

BR2EALRENBERES ST RE
B i = BURR

. The period within which the shares must
be taken up under an option

RIS R R R R

. The minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be
exercised

RRITE RIS A B AR & R

EEZERE

The Company may initially grant options representing 52,513,528 shares
under the New Share Option Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of the New
Share Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the New Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes adopted by the Company must not
exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time. No options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme or any other share option
scheme if that will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

REFEE R 8 - AAR L A T K52,513,5288 I fn (15 K 2 7
RERAFT B RER 2 A B 2 B BITRAN10%) 2 B -

IRIR AR X B ERAN 2 37 BB AR 5t B AR ] EL 5 BIR T i 8 R 1T 68 2 BB AR
RETERMABTZRNEIZEEINSRBBIKERETRMNZ
30% © fif 1R 3B 0T B AR A B R T I B S 2 B IB30% LR - AN AT R TR
s 1 -

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted and to be granted to each participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the New Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in any 12 month
period must not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.

REFBEREFEUARARAZERNEMERESE EEF+Z@A
HEAR MEBMN2EATRTEREMETERRE(BEETFERAER
TEZHERE)ERTRETFEOTZRMESE  TEBADBITROEE
Z1% ©

Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or grant of the
option.

BERERERTZAREFTSBBTF -

An option may be exercised at any time during a period commencing on
the expiry of 6 calendar months after the date of grant of the option, but
in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant.

BREURARTERES ARG NEABEAREMEEITE  HETISEB
BZBRERH BT F S
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7. The amount payable on application or
acceptance of the option and the period
within which payments or calls must or
may be made or loans for such purposes
must be paid

B A B I A BB AR M O B 1 2 BB A A R
FBANKOPARKEERFEREE
A HIR

8. The basis of determining the exercise
price

BETEENEE

9. The remaining life of the New Share
Option Scheme

B O ST B R AR IR

EETERE

The amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$10 and an offer
shall remain open for acceptance by the participant for a period of 28
days from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to
that participant.

EMBREMAXN ZREREEIOT - MB2EALTAREIZH KR
T N\BRHEARNERE-

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a
business day; or

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; or

(iii) ~ the nominal value of the shares on the date of grant.

EBREZTEEHEESET ERIUTIHERSERE:

i BOREEERTEREEA(AREEHBMIATHRBRAT
ZUHE sk

(i) BORERREETEREEHNAEZXZAERIAEHRE
KA 2 FHWTHE %

(i) RETFTEREEAOROEE-

The New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.

MBRESAEHRARBIZE-——F N \ATHRBTFEFA—BEERR
B e
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The following table shows the movements in the Company’s ARARIBREEEREFEREINBERERTFRZE
share options granted under the OIld Share Option Scheme E)RAFHRFLEAITHE2BEREND TR :
during the year and the outstanding options at the beginning and

end of the year:

Share option scheme BRETE
Number of shares
B8 E
Exercise Exercised Cancelled Lapsed
Date of Exercise price per Beginning during during during End of
Name grant period share  of year the year the year the year year
B
e REBEH TEAH THEE FY FARTE FAEHE FAXXK S
HK$ ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 000 000

BT T T T T T

(i) Directors

£E
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus ~ 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 3,200 — (2,100) (1,100) —
BAELE (Note 1) 20.1.2013
(B &E1)
Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 4,200 — (2,100) (2,100) —
Charles (Note 1) 20.1.2013
SR AR ST A (P &ET1)
(ii) Employees 21.7.2008 21.1.2009- 0.385 12,120 — (6,200) (5,920) —
l=3=1 (Note 2) 20.1.2013
(Bt 552)
19,520 — (10,400) (9,120) —
Notes: B &
1. The vesting of share options is subject to certain performance targets that 1. EEVAZNETRRERINABRENGE -EEMA
must be achieved by the directors. The share options shall be exercised by TER-ZB-—=F—A-THITEZSHBRE-
the directors not later than 20th January, 2013.
2. The vesting of certain share options is subject to certain performance targets 2. ETEEXVEFINETRABEAFCERENEE - EE
that must be achieved by the employees. The share options shall be exercised BRATER-F-—=F-—A-t+RTEZSHEBKRE -

by the employees not later than 20th January, 2013.
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The Company had used Trinomial Option Pricing Model to
determine the fair value of certain options granted as at the date
of grant, details of which are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable any of the Company’s directors or members of its
management to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the accompanying financial
statements, no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
holding companies was a party and in which any of the
Company’s directors or members of its management had a

material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.

EETERE

AAREHRAZRAMEEEEAT CE TRLE
BENMROERZAVE FHRANPHEWMKRME
28 ¢

BB EEN RFERNEARE ARRAREE
AMBERARAME2EEARY SR ARAEEN
HEBEXRBREEARARTMEMEABEZ
Betn sk (B M o

EERaNRZRE
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Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2013, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholder in the shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

BRERER &1

Ms. Yuen Lai Ping

REMR T EnEEREBER
Note:
1. Ms. Yuen Lai Ping is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, she is deemed to be

interest in the shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The 210,933,477 shares
including personal interest of 21,784,000 shares and interest of spouse for
189,149,477 shares. The shares held by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu and Ms. Yuen Lai
Ping were the same block of shares.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal
control, and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2013.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the
Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration

Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-Executive

Directors of the Company.

Beneficial owner and interest of spouse

EEZERE

FERR

RARAREFAERTRABAA R —=
=A=+—8B REAQABKRGKEEROGFEER
BESFRAERGEXVIHE2R BE3D 5 H XA M
ARABEBIARERARREELFLBAEGAE

*
BFRETFTHNECMANERIAE ZIRE (KA A
EEABSTBRAERIMNOT :

FERERERARG ZIFE

Number of Approximate %
Shares of Shareholding
EREZHEN
gk 4= Bk
210,933,477 40.17%
(Note 1)
(Mt 1)
B i -
1. REFZLAMMEE ZERB  MREEEF ML MEE
B AR MRS o Lilt210,933,477% 2521,784,000/ #) &
AT 2R 189,149,477 M B B B 2f - MK INEAE R R B L
THAENRNDEER RO -
BEREEE

ARAZEREZEGRARRZME ZLBILIFHR
TEFEKR ARBEZERZESCRTEESRZ
AEERBZEFERER LB BT A
ARV BHREFR BRERLFHE_T—=
FZA=+—"RZFEFBHERE-

FHESS
FHZEENBARNEZTEEEMAEELRSR
EEEZHMEBRR -FHEBEEMARAZHAE=
(LB SZIERITERAM -
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 22 and 23 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2013, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices adopted
by the Company is set out on pages 35 to 48 of the annual

report.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2013
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in the
interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2013, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate governance
practices of the Company during the year ended 31st March,
2013 and significant events after that date and up to the date of
this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that

they have complied with the required standard of dealings and

code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2013.

TEERERE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate governance
framework, and there is clear division of responsibilities between
the Board and the Management. The Board is responsible for
providing high-level guidance and effective oversight of the

Management. Generally, the Board is responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

J reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

o approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

. ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

. monitoring the performance of the Management.

The Board currently has seven members, comprising three
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and three
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Independent Non-Executive
Directors represented more than one-third of the Board members,
thus exhibiting a strong independent element which enhanced
independent judgement. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
practicing  CPA in Hong Kong and possesses appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise as
required under the Listing Rules. A list containing the names,
roles and functions of Directors is published on the websites of
the Group and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (the
“HKEX").

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to

determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2013, four full Board
meetings, an annual general meeting (“AGM”) and a Special
General Meeting (“SGM”) were held with an average attendance
rate of approximately 89%, 86% and 86% respectively, details of

which are presented below:

Board Members

EsgHE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Mk E
(Chairman of the Board) (BEE2TE)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HAEBELELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RAEMKEE

Non-Executive Director FHITES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRIt

Independent Non-Executive Directors B EHITES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BRA8 5 &

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp SOHRE - oS - A Fart

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BB IELE

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Board
at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved by the
Chairman following consultation with other Board members.
Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched to all Board

members in a timely manner.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. They are also encouraged to take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense in performance of
their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the Directors are

covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability Insurance, which

is also part of our best practices.

TEERERE
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Board Meetings

Attended/Held 2012 AGM SGM
EZgE3 —E-=F

HE /BT RBRRBEAE EBREIXE

3/4 v v

2/4 v v

4/4 v v

4/4 v v

4/4 4 v

4/4 — —

4/4 v v
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision A.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at least
annually hold meetings with the non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) without the
executive Directors present. As Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of the Company, is also an executive Director of the

Company, this code provision is not applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her retirement
from the Company with effect from 1st September, 2011. Ms.
Yeung has not been appointed for a specific term as she is
subject to retirement and re-election at AGM in accordance with

the Bye-laws of the Company.

Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

. provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
. serve on committees if invited; and

. scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

EERITEAR
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The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company or
its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member of
any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement and re-election at the annual
general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to

the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the independence of all the Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company and considers all of
them to be independent having regard to (i) their annual
confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules, (ii) the absence of involvement in the daily management
of the Company and (iii) the absence of any relationships or
circumstances which would interfere with the exercise of their

independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, who is going to retire at the
2013 AGM of the Company, has served as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company for more than 9 vyears. In
addition to his confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan continues to
demonstrate the attributes of an independent non-executive
director and there is no evidence that his tenure has had any
impact on his independence. The Directors are of the opinion
that Mr. Chan remains independent notwithstanding the length of
his service and believe that his valuable knowledge and
experience continue to generate significant contribution to the

Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that

the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, all directors
are subject to retirement at each AGM. The retiring directors
shall be eligible for re-election. New appointments either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to
re-election by shareholders of the Company at the next following
AGM.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that Non-Executive Directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The Non-Executive Directors of the Company have not been
appointed for a specific term as they are subject to retirement
and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.

Code Provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
shareholders. Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, 88s, jp, was unable to
attend the 2012 AGM and SGM of the Company held on 15th

August, 2012 as he was engaged in other prior business

commitments.

REARBDAN 2REZARSERRBFAS
ERIE - REEFAERBREEE -HEREZ
RENEFSEFTLRNTZEALEARFBRER
ARRTEBRRBFAG LEETAEE -

TRGEXBA4VGRTEFRATESTNZEIREFH
VARSEMER -MARBRZIERTESL B
BHETHZE HERBEARTMAR  REARKR
BFERELERREER-

EEzERE

HEEENEXZER BESREARHZELH
B BENAAKREEBE(NAZER) MNEE
ERBEREMEERTE NERIHAQRAER
RERARREFZATHEETH -

MEEFEARARAEENERRARANRRE R
BEIN -EEERFHUBRFHARAEHEMERA
BMRMMIES - EENREMARAREARE BN
BOMETHRARRBRAMEBEAERBENEE K
ME ARHEMERAE TREAFEIR QAR
HERBOEE EFCERERALARAREHR

FAMENXFEA6TIEREB I IERTES R E IR
TEERLERFAGREBREROBELRBERALENT
B o B Epps 4 rri+ HAEFTHERERAEZD
¥EH U REERARAR-ZZT—ZFNA
TERBRTCREBAFASEBREREIRE -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed and
relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had arranged
to provide to all Directors with the “Guidelines for Directors”
and the “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. In addition, the
Company also provided regular updates to the Directors in
respect of the business and operations of the Group through
monthly reports; and the updates on the changes in Listing
Rules, Corporate Governance Code and related regulatory
requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members

ExENE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MR B0 5
(Chairman of the Board) (BEFg T /E)

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus BEBELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles RAER KL

Non-Executive Director FHTES

Ms. Yeung Chui BRIt

Independent Non-Executive Directors B IHITES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR85S &

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 8ss, jp SRHREE » BBS - A Fap+

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRI A

A. reading materials in relation to regulatory update

B. attending in-house training to update business development
C. attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop

professional skill and knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all

Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.
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Supply of and access to information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms
of reference (which are posted on website of the Group and the
HKEX.), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee

and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its duties

and responsibilities.

Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2013, two meetings were held, attendance of these

meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

Meetings

Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 2/2
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The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information it
requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2013.

During the year ended 31st March, 2013, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$8,878,000 (2012:
HK$9,399,000), individual details of which are disclosed in Note
10 to the financial statements. Executive Directors and senior
management’s compensation including incentive bonus shall be

based on the corporate and individual performance.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent Non-
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and Chairman
of the Board.

The Nomination Committee is to assist the Board in overseeing
Board organization and senior management succession planning,
assessing the independence of non-executive directors, review of
the structure, size and composition of the Board. During the year
ended 31st March, 2013, one meeting was held, attendance of

the meeting held by the Nomination Committee is set out below:

Meeting

Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P 11
(Chairman)

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 11

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu 11

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny 11

Ms. Yeung Chui 11

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal

control and financial reporting matters, including the review of

financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2013.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results of 2013 and was content that the accounting policies of
the Group are in accordance with the generally accepted
accounting practices in Hong Kong. It also meets twice a year
with the Group’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers
(“PWC”) to consider their reports on the scope, strategy, progress
and outcome of their independent review of the interim financial
report and their annual audit of the consolidated financial

statements.

Attendance for the two meetings held by the Audit Committee

during the year is set out below:

Meetings

Audit Committee Members Attended/Held

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 88s, /P 2/2

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the function
to a senior management committee to perform the corporate
governance function. The scope of works of the committee

including the following :
J to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

J to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

J to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2013, the Directors have selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently;
adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments and
estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the financial statements on the going concern basis. The
Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting
records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the

financial position of the Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Internal controls

The Board has delegated to management the responsibility to
develop and maintain a sound internal control system. The
internal control system, operating through a framework of
management and operational controls, and risk management
systems, is intended to allow the Board to monitor the Group’s
business performance and financial positions, to control and
adjust risk exposures, to adopt sound business practices, to
obtain reasonable assurance on controls against fraud and errors,
to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and
to provide oversight and guidance to management in achieving

the Company’s objectives.

The key procedures that the Group has established to maintain

an effective internal control system are as follows:

. a clear management organisational structure is set up
with well-defined lines of authority, accountability and

responsibilities.

J regular reporting of the performance of the Company’s
businesses to senior management. The Board reviews the

Group’s business and financial performance on a

monthly basis.
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J the internal audit consultant shall independently evaluate
the adequacy and effectiveness of key controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. The internal audit function reports
major findings and recommendations, if any, to the Audit

Committee on a quarterly basis.

Assessment of internal control system

The Board has assessed the effectiveness of internal control
system by considering reviews performed by the Audit Committee
and management, and the findings of both internal and external
auditors. In undertaking this assessment, the Board engaged an
independent risk consulting firm to assist in the execution of

internal audit plan throughout the year ended 31st March, 2013.

The Board has annually reviewed and considered the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and the Group’s

training programmes and budgets.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The financial statements for the year have been audited by PWC.
During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$2,233,000
was payable to PWC for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$363,000 was payable to PWC for
other non-audit services. The non-audit services mainly consist

of tax compliance and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, Company Secretary of the
Company, is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through
adherence to proper Board processes and the timely preparation
and dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas
and papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes

are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

. NEPEZERB LA ETE  BE AR MR
RERDENEREZEZ cHBRRE IE
FREZZEGERIEERREZ(WA) -

PP BE 4 R B 2 BT A
EEEAHMNBREEQREEERRZES MU
RAMEMNEZBEEL 2 BREE KT EEE
ZANEEHELETHGE - BE-_T—=F=A
ZST-HIESE BEFEg5BE—XBYURBRERA
AIA B AR R BT R AR AR AT B

EEeGFETRY IFNEELAEEESHK
HERBETENER EIEERKERET R
WoOULBTIMESHEIRELEBEERS

% o

B8R £
AREEMBEBRRECHEEHBEZ RAFER - #
R E R M ENE SR BB £ 492,233,000 7T ©
AN BEMIEFEREMENEERAORIEBEL R
363,000 70 ° FEFZRBE B BIER B =R K
AR 7% ©

DREWE

ARARZRRAIMEREKNEEMNEESTBE U
RETEEERFLEZTE R E RN RE R E
T ZEERNEREREEATEZTSRFLERR
HARBEREZZERXHTEEMRANER - A
EXEPHERZ RO ERALBROARRNERS
BRE AROFALBESTSAZEGMEEA
REZER BEEFNEERE CHEIRERZE
HB-MASHALBERATES YA RERHME
MEEEH -




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the Board
is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and also

responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is
subject to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the Company
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In response to
specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary confirmed that
he has complied with all the proposed qualifications, experience

and training requirements of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Cheung confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
The Company also arranges regular site visit for investors and
media. Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the
business of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. The Group encourages all
shareholders to attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related
papers are sent to shareholders at least 20 clear business days
prior to the date of AGM.

The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been posted

to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting

at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.
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Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting (“SGM”)

are set out in the Company’s website.

Shareholders may send their enquires requiring the Board’s
attention to the Company’s principal place of business at 3/F.,
Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong) or by e-mail to enquiries@hkstarlite.com.
Questions about the procedures for convening or putting forward
proposals at an AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company

by the same means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws

Pursuant to the special resolutions passed at the Company’s
AGM held on 15th August, 2012, shareholders of the Company
approved the amendments to bye-laws of the Company. The
amendments principally reflected amendments to the Listing

Rules and to incorporate certain housekeeping amendments.

Apart from the above, there is no significant change in the

Company’s constitutional documents during the year.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2013
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 66, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and is the founder of the
Group. He holds a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has been in
community work in China and Hong Kong for many years. He is
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a member of Selection
Committee for the Government of HKSAR and a committee
member of the Election Committee Subsector Elections, a director
of Chinese Overseas Friendship Association, an Adjunct Professor
of College of Business of City University of Hong Kong, Director
of Guangzhou Jinan University and a Guest Professor of Wuhan
University and South China Normal University. Mr. Lam has
received several prominent awards including “Hong Kong Ten
Outstanding Young Persons Award 1986”, “Young Industrialist
Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first “Hong Kong Entrepreneurs
Award 1990”, “Outstanding Achievements Award” of the “Hong
Kong Print Award 1999” and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the
government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in
2002. Mr. Lam has over 50 years’ experience in the printing
industry and takes charge of the overall planning and
development of the Group. He has made dedicated efforts to

enhance the transformation of Starlite in recent years.

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus, aged 56, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since 1993. He is currently the Senior Vice
President and Chief Technical Officer of the Group. He was
appointed as director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 19th August, 2011. He graduated from
the Graphics Art Department of the Chinese Culture University
of Taiwan in 1978 and has over 31 years’ experience in the
printing industry. He is appointed as one of ISO/TC130 Experts
representing SAC/TC170 of China and participating international

printing standardization affairs.

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles, aged 57, has been an Executive
Director of the Company since 2000, the Company Secretary since
1999 and an Authorized Representative since 2011. He is currently
the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Group.
Mr Cheung joined the Group in early 1997 and is responsible for

the overall finance function of the Group. He was appointed as

director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company with
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effect from 19th August, 2011. He has held various senior positions
in finance, accounting and auditing fields for more than 27 years.
Mr. Cheung graduated from The Hongkong Polytechnic University
and is an Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association of

Chartered Certified Accountants.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 66, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director to
Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from Tst
September, 2011. She has over 47 years’ experience in the

printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 61, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan is the Chairman
of the publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong
Kong. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung
Holdings Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited, Pacific Textiles Holdings
Limited, and Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited, all of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. He holds a double major degree in Sociology and
Political Science, a Masters degree in City Planning from the
University of Manitoba, an Honorary Doctorate Degree in
Business Administration, and is bestowed as Honorary Fellow
from Lingnan University. He is also a member of the Political
Consultative Committee of Nanshan District, Shenzhen in the
People’s Republic of China. Mr. Chan currently serves on the
executive committee of the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association, the general committee of the Employers’ Federation
of Hong Kong, the council of the Hong Kong Management
Association, the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services
Association, as well as being appointed by the HKSAR
Government as board member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board
and a member of the Business Facilitation Advisory Committee.
Besides, he is also the Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong
Institute of Marketing and the Chairman of the Business
Enterprise Management Centre of the Hong Kong Management
Association. He has many years of professional experience in the

public sector and over 28 years’ managerial experience in the

food and catering industry.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, 85s, p, aged 57, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee of the
Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in July 2004. Mr. Kwok is a practising
solicitor in Hong Kong. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor
in Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia and a Chartered
Accountant in England and Wales. He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with bachelor’s degrees in
economics and laws respectively as well as a master’s degree in
laws. He also graduated from the Advanced Management

Program of the Harvard Business School.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 64, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee, member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is a
practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong. He is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving as a
member of the Small and Medium Practitioners Leadership Panel
and Practice Review Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He is also a Past President of The
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also
serves as an independent non-executive director of five other
listed companies on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, namely, CCT Telecom Holdings Limited,
Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited, Shougang Concord Grand
(Group) Limited, Van Shung Chong Holdings Limited and West
China Cement Limited. He resigned as an independent non-
executive director of North Asia Strategic Holdings Limited with
effect from 19th February, 2013.

Senior Executive

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 50, is the Senior Vice President (Operations)
of the Group. He joined the Group in 1981 and was promoted
to the present position on 1st February, 2012. He is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s production bases in the PRC. He has

more than 31 years’ of experience in the printing and packaging

industry.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_a

pwc

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
STARLITE HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 136, which comprise the
consolidated and company statements of financial position as at
31st March, 2013, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any

other person for the contents of this report.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated

financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 3Tst March, 2013 and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26th June, 2013
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2013

Revenue A
Cost of sales 55 B
Gross profit E R

Other (losses)/gains — net

mEWER

BE_ZT—=F=ZA=+—-HILFE

Note
B 5

B (B1R) sk — 38 6

Impairment of property, plant and equipment #1% - % & K& & &R E

Selling and distribution costs HELDHER
General and administrative expenses —MRITHEAX
Operating profit/(loss) mERR, (FE)
Finance income BMEKA

Finance costs BE AR

Finance costs — net BEKRA — F8
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRBADRR(BE)
Income tax expense FrEH R X

11

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the FREAQTEEZTAA

equity holders of the Company PR (B 8)

Earnings/(losses) per share attributable to the 4 R AR 7 # & #F

equity holders of the Company during B AEMLTE
the year &R,/ (EE)
(expressed in HK cents per share) (BRI Z)
— Basic — EX
— Diluted — #E

The notes on pages 60 to 136 form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Details of dividends payable to equity holders of the Company

are set out in Note 14.

12

i 3.8
3

&

7]
=]

{/

o

2013 2012
HK$/000 HK$'000
FHE T FHT
1,427,544 1,359,676
(1,156,076) (1,121,596)
271,468 238,080
(4,580) 3,892

— (27,755)
(76,099) (73,239)
(162,940) (153,622)
27,849 (12,644)
309 422
(8,520 (8,391)
(8,211) (7,969)
19,638 (20,613)
(10,281) (3,512)
9,357 (24,125)
1.78 (4.59)

1.78 (4.59)

FOREIBALHEALESRAUBIHMERNE

ERNARABIEEREAZRBFFEHRRM T4




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended 31st March, 2013

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Increase/(decrease) in fair value of

available-for- sale financial assets
Currency translation differences

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these R E60H E1368 Z M T A ItSE

SEBD o

consolidated financial statements.

RETEWER

BE_ZT—=F=A=+—-HILFE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBRT FHET
ERERN(FE) 9,357 (24,125)
Hir 2w :
AELENBEES
AFEENCRD) 496 33)
ERZER 6,104 9,314
FREME2E = 6,600 9,281
FRAARAEZRSEAEN
EENEHEE 15,957 (14,844)
A R ROE

i
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2013

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Land use rights
Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment

Investments in and amounts due from subsidiaries

Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Bank deposits with maturity over

3 months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Finance lease obligations
Trade and bill payables
Accruals and other payables
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Derivative financial instruments
Tax payable

Net current assets/(liabilities)

Total assets less current liabilities

BE

FRBEE
TinlE AR
UESENE S
NE - BERRFHZENK
REERRZRE

REKHE

HREEMBEE
BEFBHEE

RBEE
BE
BEHRUERRER
AFFERES
EEELIEE
mEREEEBE
ZEAIHZRAER

REeRTEEE

A&

REAE
[
HBEROES
BORAEARER
st B ERE RN K
JERT BB 2 Rl 5UR
fTE2MIA
JEAS BB

RBEE/ (B FE

BEERRBDAR

B AR R &

R_E—=F=A=+—H

Group Company
£\ L

As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2013 2012 2013 2012
RZB-=F RK-T-—-%F RZIB-ZF KR-T--F
ZA=t-A =ZA=t—-H =ZA=+t-A =A=+—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000
it 3t TET THT TER TET
15 26,376 26,854 — —
16 426,849 431,891 — —
15,672 3,642 — —
17 — — 248,162 242,481
18 5,459 1,400 — _
26 2,828 2,178 — —
477,184 465,965 248,162 242,481
19 110,147 106,133 — —
20 241,045 214,743 — —
20 28,287 16,626 703 696
196 122 11 22
22 21,169 20,910 — —
22 182,515 189,517 71 278
583,359 548,051 785 996
23 222,916 202,225 — —
24 4,258 — — —
25 117,470 110,614 — —
87,301 74,900 1,129 1,096
17 — — 35,156 43,244
21 884 2,536 — —
40,714 28,644 — —
473,543 418,919 36,285 44,340
109,816 129,132 (35,500) (43,344)
587,000 595,097 212,662 199,137




STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31st March, 2013

Bt AR R &

R=—Z—=#=A=+—8

57

Group Company
58 AHE
As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2013 2012 2013 2012
RZB-=F RK-T-—-F% RZIB-ZF K-T--F
ZA=t-A =ZA=t—-H =ZA=+t-A =A=+—H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz TER TR TERT FTAT
Non-current liabilities kRBAEE
Borrowings mE 23 9,952 29,367 - —
Finance lease obligations BBROER 24 7,806 — — —
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMEHER 26 8,015 10,581 — —
25,773 39,948 _ _
Net assets EERE 561,227 555,149 212,662 199,137
EQUITY BAER
Capital and reserves attributable to ERARERBEA
the equity holders of the Company EBERARGEE
Share capital AR 27 52,514 52,514 52,514 52,514
Reserves i 29 508,713 502,635 160,148 146,623
Shareholders’ equity REER 561,227 555,149 212,662 199,137

Lam Kwong Yu Cheung Chi Shing, Charles

MR L0 RAER
Chairman Director
FE Ea

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these REEOE 1368 2 M T Al EEAMERET LS

o

i

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #ZrE =SB R

For the year ended 31st March, 2013

Balance at 1st April, 2011

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

— Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale financial
assets

— Currency translation
differences

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Employee share options scheme
— Share based payments
Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2012
Balance at 1st April, 2012

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

— Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale
financial assets

— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Increase in capital reserve
Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2013

BE-Z-—=5=ZA=+—-HItHEE

Attributable to the equity holders of the Company

AT ERFEAEMN
Share capital Reserves Total
[N #E st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET FAET FAET
R-E——FNA—H&ER 52,514 530,603 583,117
FANEIE — (24,125) (24,125)
Hitb 2 Y
— AL EMBEE
ZRFEERD
_ (33) (33)
— EHER
— 9,314 9,314
FAN2ER=BE
— (14,844) (14,844)
EERREE
— BB — 4 4
B’ E — (13,128) (13,128)
— (27,968) (27,968)
R-ZBE-—-—F=BA=+—-H#&& 52,514 502,635 555,149
R-EBE—-—FNA—H&EK 52,514 502,635 555,149
F W5 — 9,357 9,357
Hith 2 1 U2
— AL ERNBEE
ZAFEE M
— 496 496
— EHLER — 6,104 6,104
FANEEKR=BE
— 15,957 15,957
N R — 623 623
BEREKRE — (10,502) (10,502)
— 6,078 6,078
R-ZE—=HE=ZA=Z+—-H&& 52,514 508,713 561,227

The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these RFE60EEI136E ZM T /UL FLHF G MIE MR N ER

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #REHR &K E 59
For the year ended 31st March, 2013 HE-Z-—=Z6=-A=+—HIEE
2013 2012
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M 5 FTET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities KRETHHERE
Cash inflow generated from operations BEEBEEZRESRA 30(a) 81,317 97,433
Interest paid ERREEIS) (10,171) (9,205)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBREH (823) (2,437)
Overseas income tax paid B REINR IR (6,026) (5,671)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded BEREBBMEH 241 29
Net cash generated from operating activities 4 & /EBEE 2R & F5E 64,538 ¢ 80,149
Cash flows from investing activities REETBHZ2RERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B - KFE k& E (46,191) (70,018)
Investment in available-for-sale financial RERAHHENBEE
assets (3,563) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEME BERZHEZ
and equipment Fris A 30(b) 349 —
Prepayments for property, plant and mE - HER
equipment B CENE (12,030) (2,507)
Interest received 2 UA S 309 422
Increase in short-term bank deposits with =18 ARz HRT
maturity over 3 months T 5R38 10 (259) (2,508)
Net cash used in investing activities REEFHMACHASFR (61,385) (74,611)
Cash flows from financing activities BMETH2EESRE
New long-term bank loans FHERITRPER 61,400 74,336
Repayment of long-term bank loans BERITRAER (45,309) (60,766)
New short-term bank loans HIBRITREBER 261,103 282,126
Repayment of short-term bank loans BERITEMER (267,645) (285,548
Repayment of finance lease BRI BRY (711) —
Dividends paid B R (10,502) (13,128)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEZDAAZESFRE (1,664) (2,980)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents REeRBREeEEZFHEM 1,489 2,558
Cash and cash equivalents on 1st April B—BABzZRELBEELZE 180,810 175,245
Exchange gains on cash and bank overdrafts 3R & KR7TE X 2 & H UE 114 3,007
Cash and cash equivalents on 31st March ZSA=t+—HAZEBE4RESZHE 22 182,413 180,810
The notes on pages 60 and 136 form an integral part of these RFECOBEEI136E 2T Bl Zi S MIEHRKRNEE
consolidated financial statements. 1 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 General information
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an investment
holding company. lts subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the printing and manufacturing of packaging materials,
labels and paper products, including environmental

friendly paper products.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 3rd
November, 1992, as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda. The Company’s
shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited since 1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board of Directors on 26th June, 2013.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently

applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale financial assets and financial
liabilities (including derivative financial instruments)

at fair value through profit or loss.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are

significant to the consolidated financial statements,

are disclosed in note 4 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

As at 3Tst March, 2013, the Group had breached
certain financial covenants in respect of the
borrowings of approximately HK$65,998,000 and
accordingly, the non-current portion of these
borrowings, amounting to approximately
HK$45,871,000 has been reclassified as current
liabilities as at 31st March, 2013. Nonetheless, the
directors consider that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and meet
its financial obligations as and when they fall due
and accordingly are satisfied that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern

basis.

Effect of adopting amendments to standards

HKAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of
(Amendment) Underlying Assets
HKFRS 1 Severe hyperinflation and removal
(Amendment) of fixed dates for first time
adoption
HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
(Amendment) — Transfers of Financial Assets

The adoption of the above amendments to existing
standards did not have significant effect on the
financial information or result in any significant
changes in the Group’s significant accounting

policies.

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretation that have been issued but are not

effective

The following new standards and amendments to
standards have been issued but are not effective for
the year ended 31st March, 2013 and have not

been early adopted by the Group.

A M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

Effective for the year ending 31st March, 2014

HKAS 19

(Revised 2011)
HKAS 27

(Revised 2011)
HKAS 28

(Revised 2011)
HKFRS 1

(Amendment)
HKEFRS 7

(Amendment)

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to
HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 11
and HKFRS
12

HKFRSs

(Amendment)

Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and

Joint Ventures
Government Loans

Financial Instruments: Disclosures
— Offsetting Financial Assets

and Financial Liabilities
Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities
Fair Value Measurements

Consolidated Financial Statements,
Joint Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests in Other

Entities: Transition Guidance

Improvements to HKFRSs 2011

Effective for the year ending 31st March, 2015

HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12
and
HKAS 27
(2011)

(Amendment)
HKAS 32

(Amendment)

Investment entities

Financial Instruments: Presentation

— Offsetting Financial Assets

and Financial Liabilities
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Effective for the year ending 31st March, 2016

HKFRS 7 Mandatory Effective Date of
(Amendments) HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Additions to Financial Instruments — Financial
HKFRS 9 Liabilities

The Group has assessed the impact of these new or
revised standards and amendments to standards and
the adoption of these new or revised standards and
amendments to standards is not expected to result
in a significant impact on the results and financial

position of the Group.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied

to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Consolidation
The financial statements of the Group include the
financial statements of the Company and its

subsidiaries made up to 31st March.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of
more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that
are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group

controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are

de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

Consolidation (Continued)

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the aggregate fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred. lIdentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the

acquiree’s net assets.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s statement of financial position the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
provision for impairment. The results of subsidiaries

are accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividend income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2

2.3

2.4

Consolidation (Continued)

When the group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognized in the
consolidated income statement. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purpose of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the

consolidated income statement.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
The chief

who is responsible for

the chief operating decision-maker.
operating decision-maker,
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a)  Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong
which s

Kong dollar the Company’s

functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

A M BRRME

2.2

2.3

2.4

EETBEMEE)

FEMRE (M)

BEEETHRAENE EXENER
RERGRAEEHEEAENGFES
NFEE FEENEDESFSRAR
PR AFEBEARRIEERZNRE
ABEMEWMREEE (ERABE &
EREMEE - M ZAEEMLEE
Wit RN ERNSERNASEER
ERERMEENAB SEREZEZM
FHMEPENSTERINBESH IR
ERFARER -

DEB|E
BEDE TR R IE%LJ&%%&#Z
W-EA? —HZARTUER -T2

ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁi"ﬁﬂﬁﬁ&uﬂﬁi&%ﬁﬁ
ZRE - EFE/ERATREEREE
BERARE WAANERBRE -

HEBRE

(a) DEEEREMZESEEK
AEBEEBEEENUBREMD
BEHHONZEBEEMEMNEE
KERBEZEBHE(EE
) o R BB HRERABITLER
BILARNARNINEEE RAE
EHNZ27EEK-

65




66

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security
and other changes in the carrying amount of
the security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised
in the consolidated income statement, and
other changes in the carrying amount are

recognised in equity.

Translation difference on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Translation differences on non-monetary

financial assets such as equities classified as

available-for-sale are included in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the exchange rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates

prevailing on the transaction dates, in

which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the

transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive

income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are taken to
other comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in
equity are recognised in the consolidated

income statement as part of the gain or loss

on sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

Land use rights

The up-front prepayments made for land use rights
are accounted for as prepaid operating lease
payments. They are expensed in the consolidated
income statement on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the lease; when there is impairment, the
impairment is expensed immediately in the

consolidated income statement.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including leasehold
land interests classified as finance leases but
excludes construction in progress are stated at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the

acquisition of the assets.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Leasehold land interests classified as finance leases
commence amortisation from the time when the
land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Amortisation on leasehold land interests classified
as finance lease and depreciation on all other
property, plant and equipments are calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their cost to
their residual values over their estimated useful

lives, as follows:

— Leasehold land classified
Over the lease term
25 to 50 years
5 to 10 years

as finance lease
— Buildings
— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles

5 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period. The carrying amount is written
down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (note 2.7).

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation work
has not been completed. It is carried at cost which
includes construction and installation expenditures
and other direct costs less any impairment losses.
On completion, construction in progress is
transferred to the appropriate categories of property,
plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided for
construction in progress until it is completed and

available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
other non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Impairment is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating

units). Assets that suffer impairment are reviewed for

possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.7

2.8

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries and
other non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s

net assets including goodwill.

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
categories of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-
for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its

financial assets at initial recognition.

(a)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

A financial asset (including derivative
financial instrument) is classified as fair value
through profit or loss if acquired principally
for the purpose of trading or designated upon
initial recognition. Assets in this category are
classified as current assets if they are either
held for trading or are expected to be settled
within twelve months otherwise they are

classified as non-current.

(b)  Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.
These are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade

and bill receivables and bank balances and

cash in the statement of financial position
(notes 2.12 and 2.13).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless management intends to dispose
of the investments within twelve months of

the end of the reporting period.

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade-date, the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried
at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are
initially recognised at fair value, and transaction
costs are expensed in consolidated the income
statement. Financial assets are derecognized when
the rights to receive cash flows from the investments
have expired or have been transferred and the
Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Available-for-sale financial
assets and financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value.
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.

Gain or loss arising from changes in the fair value
of the financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are included in the consolidated income
statement within other income/other operating costs
in the financial period in which they arise. Dividend
income from financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is recognised in the consolidated

income statement as part of other income when the

Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets (Continued)

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised cost
of the security and other changes in the carrying
amount of the security. The translation differences
on monetary securities are recognised in the
income translation

consolidated statement;

differences on non-monetary securities are
recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of
monetary and non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale recognised in other comprehensive

income.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are
sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included in the
consolidated income statement as gain and loss

from investment securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
the consolidated income statement as part of other
income. Dividends from available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the income statement
as part of other income when the Group’s right to

receive payments is established.

The fair values of quoted investments are based on
current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset
is not active (and for unlisted securities), the Group
establishes fair value by using valuation techniques.
These include the use of recent arm’s length
transactions, reference to other instruments that are
substantially the same, discounted cash flow
analysis and option pricing models, making

maximum use of market inputs and relying as little

as possible on entity-specific inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and
impairment losses are incurred only if there
is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss
event”) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or group of financial assets

that can be reliably estimated.
The criteria that the Group uses to determine
that there is objective evidence of an

impairment loss include:

. Significant financial difficulty of the

issuer or obligor;
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74 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & B 75 3R 3% Bt &%

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EBESTERMEGE
(Continued)
2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued) 29 HMBEEREGE
(a)  Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued) (@)  ABEE BRI BR A & E (E)

A breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

The Group, for economic or legal
reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, granting to the
borrower a concession that the lender

would not otherwise consider;

It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other

financial reorganisation;

The disappearance of an active market
for that financial asset because of

financial difficulties; or

Observable data indicating that there
is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a
portfolio of financial assets since the
initial recognition of those assets,
although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial

assets in the portfolio, including:

(i) adverse changes in the payment
status of borrowers in the

portfolio;

(i) national or local economic
conditions that correlate with
defaults on the assets in the

portfolio.

The Group first assesses whether objective

evidence of impairment exists.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
The amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any
impairment loss is the current effective
interest rate determined under the contract.
As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an
instrument’s fair value using an observable

market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised
(such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously

recognised impairment loss is recognised in

the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available for sale

The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. For debt
securities, the Group uses the criteria refer to
in (a) above. In the case of equity investments
classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the
security below its cost is also evidence that
the assets are impaired. If any such evidence
exists for available-for-sale financial assets,
the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss — is removed
from equity and recognised in the separate
consolidated income statement. Impairment
losses recognised in the separate consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the separate
consolidated income statement. If, in a
subsequent period, the fair value of a debt
instrument classified as available for sale
increases and the increase can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in profit or
loss, the impairment loss is reversed through

the separate consolidated income statement.

2.10 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on

the date a derivative contract is entered into and

are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The

derivative instruments held by the Group do not

qualify for hedge accounting and are accounted for

at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair

value of these derivative instruments are recognised

immediately in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.11

2.12

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

Trade and bill receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade
and bill receivables is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,

they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and bill receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less

provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.14

2.15

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net
of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that
some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months

after the end of the reporting period.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of
time that is required to complete and prepare the
asset for its intended use. All other borrowing costs
are charged to the consolidated income statement

in the period in which they are incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %R & Bi 7% 3R 3% Ffi 5% 79

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEESBXREEGE
(Continued)
2.16 Current and deferred income tax

2,16 BV RIELEMRES

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred

income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable

profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16

2.18

Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Share capital
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity share capital, the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from

retained earnings.

Employee benefits

(a)  Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for
the estimated liability for annual leave and
long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

(b)  Retirement benefits
The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations

to pay further contribution for post-retirement

benefits beyond these fixed contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.18 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Retirement benefits (Continued)

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The
contributions are recognised as employment
costs when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction

in the future payments is available.

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based
on a formula that takes into consideration the
profit attributable to the Company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where there is

a past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19

2.20

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
included in the same class of

any one item

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s
activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax,
returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating

sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below. The Group
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into

consideration the type of customer, the type of

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

2.21

(a) Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectability of the related receivables is

reasonably assured.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective interest

method.

Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor), including upfront payment
made for land use rights, are charged to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line

basis over the period of the lease.

Leases of certain property, plant and equipment
where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the

leased property and the present value of the

minimum lease payments.

e M BRRME

2

BER

I BEME (&)

2.20 WARER(E])

2.21

(a) HEE®
HEERNEETRERNEPLPER
Em EPEXZEGRYBRE
HEEKFIEN RSN EE
E R ERAR -

()  FLEKA
MEWARBERN B EREH
L B ETERBASK -

HE

WA E A2 BN AR & E R H
HEARZE HERKLEHE - REXK
BEEXNZARENG B HEA KR
ZEMRBESR) BELHERER
EXNOKE REAEHRNAERLER
e lEmRI -

BASERAENZMERERNER
MEROETYE BELIRENEE
HoEAMAERE BREEEREER
ERREEEEZATERKEEEN
HRBEEMENREEERE -

83




84

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.21

2.22

Leases (Continued)

Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in short-term and long-term
finance lease obligations. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the consolidated
income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.
The property, plant and equipment acquired under
finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the

useful life of the asset and the lease term.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can
also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured reliably. A contingent liability is not
recognised but is disclosed in the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will

then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain events not
of the Group. A

contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed

wholly within the control

in the notes to the financial statements when an

inflow of economic benefits is probable. When an

inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.23

2.24

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that
require the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instruments.
The Company and the Group account for the
HKFRS 4

“Insurance contracts” and do not recognise liabilities

financial guarantee contracts under
for financial guarantees at inception, but performs a
liability adequacy test at the end of each reporting
period by comparing its net liability regarding the
financial guarantee with the amount that would be
required if the financial guarantee would result in a
If the

respective liability is less than its present legal or

present legal or constructive obligation.

constructive obligation amount, the entire difference
is recognised in the consolidated income statement

immediately.

Dividend distributions

Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by

the Company’s shareholders.

3 Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and
price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance. The Group uses derivative financial
instruments to manage certain interest risk
exposures. Risk management is carried out by senior

management of the Group under policies approved

by the Board of Directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate in
the People’s Republic of China (the
“Mainland China”),

Singapore and Malaysia with most

Hong Kong,

transactions denominated in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollar, Singapore dollar,
United States dollar or Malaysian
ringgit. The Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
sales and purchases transactions that
are denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the
relevant subsidiary. The Group
considers its foreign currency exposure
mainly arises from the exposure of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollar
and/or United States dollar. As Hong
Kong dollar is pegged to United States
dollar, the Group believes the exposure
of transactions denominated in United
States dollar which are entered by
group companies with a functional
currency of Hong Kong dollar to be

insignificant.

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure to
foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time. The
Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as

to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 B EBEZEGE)
(@  Market risk (Continued) (@ HHEEEE)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) S IE J7 % (42)

As at 31st March, 2013, approximately RZEBE—=F=RF=+—
90% (2012: 89%) of the Group’s H K& B #90%2 & &
borrowings were denominated in Hong (ZZE—ZF:89%)H N
Kong dollar and Renminbi while the BLTRERARBHE mH
remaining were denominated in United BIGUET RS RAE T
States dollar and Malaysian ringgit. The stE- AREBEEZ R
Group’s borrowings are mainly in BLTIARBAEZEE
Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi to ERLNPEMNRERE -
finance investments in China. At ARl - EREEHFAL
present, the management does not BEAEEBEERHEZME
expect that there will be any significant fAERIIERRBEAEER
foreign exchange risk associated with TEERAENeR T AY
the Group’s borrowings and the Group HEREBAEERBE 2
did not use any financial instruments P [ Bz

to hedge its foreign exchange risk
arising from the Group’s borrowings

during the year.

At 31st March, 2013, if Renminbi had RZE—=F=ZA=+—
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2012: B WARBEBITHE
5%) against Hong Kong dollar or TTZERFEE%(
United States dollar with all other T—Z%F :5%) MmEAMA
variables held constant, pre-tax profit BRRERTE KEE
for the year would have been B B A i A 1 o0 R A
approximately HK$701,000 higher/ #47701,000%8 (= T — =
lower (2012: pre-tax loss HK$264,000 F BRBANBBERD G
lower/higher), mainly as a result of H0264,0008 7T) » £ E B
foreign exchange gains/losses on NEEEERRAFNEER
translation of cash and bank balances, BIEsRE RETFR
trade receivables, trade payables and BH5RIER BEHEN
borrowings denominated in non- ERLBEELRBEE
functional currency of the relevant ZONE Wz IR TR o

group companies.

(ii)  Cash flow interest rate risk (i) B2 TEFEEE
As the Group has no significant AREEKRIRE S RRITHE
interest-bearing assets except for the MON WEmBEBRABREE
cash and bank balances, the Group’s [ N F R )
income and operating cash flows are ERERBLENZHISH
substantially independent of changes in RPEYE-

market interest rates.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow interest rate risk (Continued)
The Group’s interest rate risk mainly
arises from borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from the
Group’s borrowings. The Group hedged
part of the cash flow interest-rate risk
through interest rate swaps, which
fixed the interest rate of the notional
principal amounting to HK$50,000,000
as at 31st March, 2013 (2012:
HK$50,000,000).

At 31st March, 2013, if interest rates
on borrowings had been 10 basis
points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been
HK$199,000 lower/higher (2012: post-
tax loss HK$190,000 higher/lower),
mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating rate

borrowings.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the management of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
management on a group basis. Most
customers are sizable and renowned.
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering its financial
position, past experience and other relevant
factors. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored. Debtors with overdue

balances will be requested to settle their

outstanding balances.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

(9]

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group believes that adequate provision
for doubtful debts has been made in the
consolidated financial statements and that all
customers with delinquency in payments and
indication of impairment were fully provided
for. To the extent that information is available,
management has properly reflected revised
estimates of expected future cash flows in
their impairment assessments in relation to
receivables. As at 31st March, 2013, a total
provision for impairment of trade receivables
of HK$6,018,000 (2012: HK$7,856,000) had
been recognised in the Group’s financial

statements.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Singapore and Mainland China. Management
considers that the credit risk associated with
deposits with banks and financial institutes is

low.

The Company has no significant exposure to
credit risk, management has also performed
the liability adequacy test on the guarantees
given to bank and financial institutions for
certain of its subsidiaries and is of the
opinion that there are no liabilities in related

to the guarantees given.

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the availability
of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities. Due to the
dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s management aims to maintain

flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1  Financial risk factors (Continued)

()

Liquidity risk (Continued)

As mentioned in Note 2.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group has breached
certain financial covenants of its loan
facilities but management is of the view that
given the continuous strong cash generating
from operating activities, the Group has

sufficient funds to meet its operational needs.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents (Note 22) and
undrawn borrowing facilities (Note 33) on the

basis of expected cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the
Company’s financial liabilities into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the end of reporting period date to
contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
12 months equal their carrying balances, as

the impact of discounting is not significant.

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in which
the Group can be required to pay, that is if

the lenders were to invoke their unconditional

rights to call the loans with immediate effect.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERBEEGE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BIBEAREZE(E)
(©  Liquidity risk (Continued) ) FHBELEREE)
Between Between
On Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5
demand 1 year years years
N F I
BER LR—F —ZE=-F Z—ZFRF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000
FET FHET FAET FET
Group 5
At 31st March, 2013 R-TB—=5
=A=+-—AH
Borrowings mE 214,987 7,929 5,095 4,857
Finance lease obligations B S R A ETE — 4,258 4,258 3,548
Trade and bill payables B EMNER
PSS — 117,470 — —
Other payables H At JE 15 3K — 33,761 — —
Derivative financial instruments #74 g T & — 884 — —
Interest payable & {<F IS 12,119 905 713 525
227,106 165,207 10,066 8,930
At 31st March, 2012 R-E——%F
=A=+-—AH
Borrowings BE 189,775 12,450 11,700 17,667
Trade and bill payables B S EMERR
PES — 110,614 — _
Other payables H fth & A 5K — 33,994 — -
Derivative financial instruments $74 4/ T A — 2,536 — —
Interest payable FEAST R B 11,412 1,048 724 756
201,187 160,642 12,424 18,423
Less than
1 year
LPR—F
HK$’000
FHET
Company ]
At 31st March, 2013 R=-ZFE-Z=Z5=ZA=+—H
Other payables H & < 3R 98
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTB B A R RIA 35,156
35,254
At 31st March, 2012 R=ZB-—=-f=ZA=+—8H
Other payables H & < 3R 93
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTB B A R RIA 43,244

43,337
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities which
are classified on the statement of financial
position as available-for-sale financial assets.
To manage its price risk arising from

investments in equity securities, the Group

diversifies its investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.

At 31st March, 2013, if the price of the
equity securities invested by the Group have
lower/higher by 10%, with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s equity would have
been approximately HK$173,000 (2012:

HK$140,000) lower/higher.

The fair value of the unlisted insurance policy
invested by the Group will fluctuate, subject
to the returns which are at the discretion of
the issuer of the insurance policy. Such policy
has a minimum guaranteed returns during the
holding period. Management is of the opinion
that the price risk arising from this policy is

insignificant.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid

to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue

new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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e M BRRMEE

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERBEEGE)
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EXEBRER(E)
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net AEBNLNFARERELERHESE
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt A ZEENBBEFHERARKTERER
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as B aEFENERE(BRERGEEY
total borrowings (including current and non-current BIRAKRAPEEN RS RIFRERE)
borrowings as shown in the consolidated statement BEERAESEE RAABEFEAR
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. e BRARPMRAEZR] -
Total capital is calculated as ‘equity’, as shown in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
During 2013, the Group’s strategy, which was RZEBE—=EFRN AEBZER(AF
unchanged from 2012, was to maintain a net T HFRUESE AEFFAR
gearing ratio less than 75%. The net gearing ratios LR DRIS% RZE—=ZFRF
at 31st March, 2013 and 2012 were as follows: —ZF=ZA=t—RHZFaELENT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR
Borrowings (Note 23) A& (f3E23) 232,868 231,592
Finance lease obligation (Note 24) B 7% 2 49 B 75 (MY 524) 12,064 —
Bill payables e RE 4,321 2,819
Total borrowings BE A 249,253 234,411
Less: Bank balances and cash (Note 22) & : $R1T #4577 3R & (ff7E22) (203,684) (210,427)
Net debt {%?%7%%5 45/569 23,984
Total equity [ Fag 561,227 555,149
Net gearing ratio FEELE 8% 4%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEZME

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
including cash and cash equivalents, trade and bill
receivables, deposits and financial liabilities
including trade and bill payables, other payables

and short-term bank borrowings, approximate their

fair values due to their short-term maturities.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AREZMHEFGE)
The Group’s financial instruments are measured in AREFB R TEETBRRARIEAF
the statement of financial position at fair value. The BifitE RFEASEBET :

fair value measurement hierarchies are as follows:

—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets — REEEsaBEREERTS LY
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). WECREFHE)(E—R) -

—  Inputs other than quoted prices included — BE-AMBENREN EE
within level 1 that are observable for the FEENAEZGNER) S HE
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as (BNHE B AR LASNMG H) B PR 1S &
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from Ax(FEZ4H) -

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not — YR BEAEBEEMSRBEMET
based on observable market data (that is, MNEEXEBENAZBI T A&
unobservable inputs) (level 3). RWER)(E=ZR) -

The following table presents the Group’s assets and TRENAEBR =T —=ZF=HA

liabilities that are measured at fair value at 37st —t—BUAAFEAENEERAE-

March, 2013.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£—® EZR B et

HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT TERT

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets ] fft H €8 15 & &E 1,729 3,730 — 5,459
Liabilities =R
Derivative financial instruments MEemIA — 884 — 884
The following table presents the Group’s assets and TEREINAEER -_ZT-—Z-F=H
liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31st =+t —HAUATEFENEEREBRE-
March, 2012.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
% Bl 4 F=H BET

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000
THET TAT TAET THET

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets At HEHKEEE 1,400 — — 1,400
Liabilities =Rt

Derivative financial instruments TESRmIA == 2,536 == 2,536
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the end of reporting period. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held
by the Group is the current bid price. These
instruments are included in level 1. Instruments

included in level 1 comprise primarily listed equity

investments classified as available-for-sale financial

assets.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available
and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument
is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be

reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

addressed below.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

(b)

(o)

Trade receivables

The Group’s management determines the provision
for impairment of trade receivables based on an
assessment of the recoverability of the receivables.
This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and current market
conditions, and requires the use of judgements and
estimates. Management reassesses the provision at

the end of each reporting period.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in
which such determination is made. Deferred tax
assets relating to certain temporary differences and
tax losses are recognised when management
considers it is likely that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences
or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred
tax assets and income tax in the period in which

such estimate is changed.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and variable selling
expenses. These estimates are based on current
market conditions and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of a similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of
changes in customer taste and competitor actions in

response to industry cycles. Management reassesses

these estimates at the end of each reporting period.
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4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Fair value of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in
an active market are determined by the quoted
market prices. For the fair values of financial assets
not traded in an active market, the Group would
use the quoted price provided by counterparty to
estimate the fair values. The methodologies, models
and assumptions used in valuing these financial
assets require judgement by management which are
mainly based on market conditions existing at each

reporting date.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment and land use rights

Management of the Group determines the estimated
useful lives, residual values and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment with
reference to the estimated periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of these assets. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will revise the depreciation
charge where useful lives or residual values are
different from those previously estimated. Actual
economic lives may differ from estimated useful
lives and actual residual values may differ from
estimated residual values. Periodic review could
result in a change in depreciable lives and residual
values and therefore depreciation expense in the

future periods.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amounts
have been determined based on value-in-use
calculations or fair value less costs to sell. These

calculations require the use of judgements and

estimates.
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HEAOTR EEERSEENER
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o
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BEfs - JRESEIREEREBES
NP EEREERAET  HEATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4  Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(Continued)
()  Impairment of property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be recoverable;
(i) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, being the
higher of fair value less costs to sell and net present
value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset in the
business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions
to be applied in preparing cash flow projections
including whether these cash flow projections are

discounted using an appropriate rate.

5  Revenue and segment information
The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the printing and
manufacturing of packaging materials, labels and paper

products, including environmental friendly paper products.

(@) Revenue/Turnover is analysed as follows:

Sales of packaging materials, labels and

paper products, including environmental & 4K FE R G -
friendly paper products RREEE®M
Others Hity

(b) Segment information
The chief operating decision-maker has been
identified as the Chairman/Chief Executive Officer
of the Company. Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the Company
reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources.

Management has reported the results of the

operating segments based on these reports.

A M BRRME

4

B Rl E R A B ()

M M- BERREZREE#H

RABREEEERER U TERL
HEZEEREEERHE  ODEEHE—
REHFBRTEHEEBETRERER
Bl (WVEEZEEESSEFET LD
BE - BIAFEERHEEKRA KRB
BERFECAZEEMHE ZRRE
EREBZFRE  ARSERE - Rii)
REEBERREBARGERZ & BR
HEEZEHReRBRARECRAE
AN RRER -

WA R 28 E&E
ARAT—REBBEAR - AMBAREE
HEENRF R REREN - B REER
P BERRAEESR -

@ WA/ EXBEZ2IHOT:

HEBRRMHN BH]-
B

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER TET
1,395,969 1,332,029
31,575 27,647
1,427,544 1,359,676

(b) ZEHER
ARBER/ERATRERREIEL
BREE - REDHAMETELZREK
ERERNFLZ2H BN 2H - AR
AXE/ERATRENAEE A
BE UAERRAROIEER -ERE
ERBZEREEREEDMOESE -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)
(b)

Segment information (Continued)

The Chairman/Chief Executive Officer of the
Company considers the business from a geographical
perspective, i.e. determined by the location of major
factory plants including Southern China, Eastern

China and South East Asia, and assesses

e M BRRMEE

5 KWARDIHER (&)
by BHERE)
ARBER/ERATERBEREIE
@B D AR EERE B FTERRE
PRERM FRERRBEI - EBREK
A SRR (BB - FaF (5
B) BARAX BEERABEBEFLEH

performance based on revenue, operating profit/ ERH R o
(loss), net profit/(loss), capital expenditure, assets
and liabilities.
(i) The segment results for the year ended 31st (i) BE-_Z—=Zfr_ZF——-F=
March, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: A=+t—BIEFEZHBEEWD
T~
Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
E3 ER RED 58
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THER THERT
For the year ended 31st March, 2013 Z=—ZE—=#&
ZA=Z+-BLEE
Total revenue @A 1,039,430 335,614 183,123 1,558,167
Segment revenue D EMA (140)  (130,483) —  (130,623)
Revenue (from external customers) WACRBEINBEF) 1,039,290 205,131 183,123 1,427,544
Operating profit/(loss) SRR (BB (19,306) 33,607 13,548 27,849
Finance income & WA 134 142 33 309
Finance costs B A (6,019) (1,595) (906) (8,520)
Income tax expense FrEHEY (3,293) (5,827) (1,161)  (10,281)
Profit/(loss) for the year FraF/ (EE) (28,484) 26,327 11,514 9,357
Other information: Hit &8 :
Depreciation and amortisation FRYTE R
for the year 33,790 26,407 6,419 66,616
Capital expenditure EENGET 33,408 10,801 26,801 71,010
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & B 75 3R 3% Fff &%

5

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WA R % %BE R (F)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

(M)

March, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

(Continued)

by 2HERE)

The segment results for the year ended 31st )y HEZZ—=FR-T—ZF=
A=+t—BIFEZDAEEN
T (&)
Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group

For the year ended 31st March, 2012
Total revenue

Segment revenue

Revenue (from external customers)
Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income

Finance costs

Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Depreciation and amortisation
for the year

Capital expenditure

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

B ¥R RE: £
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TET TET TERT TER

—E-CF

=ZA=+-HLEE

BN 1,024,206 260,116 204,308 1,488,630
2 EBUA (899)  (128,055) —  (128,954)

WACRBEINBER) 1,023,307 132,061 204,308 1,359,676

e (R /%A (11,609) (19,4100 18,375  (12,644)
BEWA 244 135 43 422
AR A (6,485) (1,833) (73) (8,391)
Fiefim% (956) (623) (1,933) (3,512)
FERN(ER)/HF (18,806)  (21,731) 16,412  (24,125)
HiER:
FRIEREH

35,721 26,203 4,700 66,624
BARY 37,937 2,850 31,738 72,525

REERE —  (27,755) —  (27,755)
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 W ARS ZEH (&)
(b)  Segment information (Continued) by ZEERE)

(i) An analysis of the Group’s assets and i)y MRZEBE-—Z=ZFR-_FT—-—_F=H
liabilities by segment as at 31st March, 2013 =t+t—REFEAEEZHHE
and 2012 is as follows: ERBESITOT :

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
#E ER RED |
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THERT THERT THERT
As at 31st March, 2013 i - :fF
=B=+-
Segment assets DEWEE 619,252 259,714 178,553 1,057,519
Deferred income tax assets EREFMEHEE 259 2,569 — 2,828
Tax recoverable AU E Fr 8 196 — — 196
Total assets BEE 619,707 262,283 178,553 1,060,543
Segment liabilities DEBE 325,696 69,057 55,834 450,587
Deferred income tax liabilities BELEEHEE 5,218 — 2,797 8,015
Tax payable fE {4 75 08 34,283 4,815 1,616 40,714
Total liabilities FOR=Rr 365,197 73,872 60,247 499,316
Southern ~ Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
g B KRB 58
HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$’000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHT
As at 31st March, 2012 R-B—=—F
=A=+-—H
Segment assets DEEE 621,102 234,265 156,349 1,011,716
Deferred income tax assets EEFTE %Rﬁﬁ 56 2,122 — 2,178
Tax recoverable A] Y 2] Fr 15 Bt 3K 122 — — 122
Total assets REE 621,280 236,387 156,349 1,014,016
Segment liabilities DEAE 320,652 57,843 41,147 419,642
Deferred income tax liabilities BTSSR aE 7,309 — 3,272 10,581
Tax payable JE A B8 A 25,303 123 3,218 28,644
Total liabilities FEY =R 353,264 57,966 47,637 458,867

Revenues of approximately HK$197,684,000
(2012: HK$151,385,000) are derived from a

single external customer. These revenues are

attributable to the Southern China segment.

#9197,684,0007 7L (Z & — = -
151,385,000 7T) B9 g AR B —
BeE—IREF HLEFERABR
EEHI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other (losses)/gains — net

Net exchange (losses)/gains

Net losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment

Others

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work in progress

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments) (note 9)
Operating lease rentals of premises

charged by
— third parties
— related parties (note 34)
Provision for impairment of receivables
Provision for/(write back of) inventory
obsolescence
Amortisation of land use rights
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Auditor’s remuneration
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs,

and general and administrative expenses

A M BRRME

6 Hft(FHE) WE — FH

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
ER (E518), W FE (5,026) 1,871
LEME BERRHEZ
B85 (103) (51)
HAh 549 2,072
(4,580) 3,892
7 BRMESHSZEX
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
R R K E #E R E A 666,172 676,407
B R R ERRFEEE
(2,521) 11,137
T &M 39,543 33,682
HIERE 18,285 16,499
ERHER 41,246 39,402
BIRA(BREREZFHE)
(g 7E9) 412,520 370,513
THAMELEREZ
HeExHT
— =%k 19,617 19,846
— BAE A (M EE34) 69 66
JE LSRR RO (B B 3,144 2,678
FERERE (B#)
7,532 (546)
b {sB P AR 5 753 744
M- - BEREEZNE 65,863 65,880
% 25 60 B 2,402 2,375
HamA X 120,490 109,774
HERAN HERDIHER
R—mRkiTHAZ R 1,395,115 1,348,457
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8  Finance costs — net 8 ®EAEX — FH
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITHMENME B
— wholly repayable within five years — ARAEFRNEZEEER 7,541 7,361
— not wholly repayable within five years — BERDFRNEHER 833 88
Interest of finance leases B 75 2B 81 —
Fair value (gain)/loss on interest-rate swaps FEBHEOHRTE
(Wezs) /g
— realised — BER 1,716 1,756
— unrealised — DARER (1,651) (814)
8,520 8,391
Interest income from bank deposits RITIFARA BHA (309) (422)
8,211 7,969
The analysis shows the finance costs of bank borrowings, LR AMIKBE A YR TELEIIENHEE
including term loans which contain a repayment on ZHE 2HRTHE(BESAESREE
demand clause, in accordance with the agreed scheduled BT HESNBEREA - R - — =4
repayments dates set out in the loan agreements. For the p-_E——F=-fA=+—HB BEEBRE
years ended 31st March, 2013 and 2012, the interest on BIRHHEITEE T 8 5 Bl 58,021,000
bank borrowings which contain a repayment on demand 70 15,976,000 7T, ©

clause amounted to HK$8,021,000 and HK$5,976,000

respectively.

9 Employment costs (including directors’ 9 EIRA(BIFEEEMHS)
emoluments)

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FET

Salaries, wages and allowances e T& N ERL 372,068 331,934

Discretionary bonus B HRE ZEAL 3,867 4,404

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIRKA — AEHZKEE 19,775 17,310
Provision for long service payments REBRE e RFR2BER

and annual leave 2,249 2,539

Share-based payments & 1 32 A B & — 4

Other welfare and benefits H AR & = 14,561 14,322

412,520 370,513
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Employment costs (including directors’

emoluments) (Continued)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution scheme
managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme,
each of the group companies (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The monthly
contributions of each of the employer and the employee
are subject to a cap of HK$1,000 before June 2012 and
HK$1,250 after June 2012 and thereafter contributions are

voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% to 11% of
their basic salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 11% to 33% of the basic salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 5% to 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 6.5% to 16% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD5,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$31,000).

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 11% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 13% of the wages of

its employees. The employer’s and employees’ contributions

are not subject to a cap.

A M BRRME

BETRA(BEESEHS) (&)

AREFBCDAEBEEILNAHEATESTE
([BEeEE])  Zta AR EHALHAE L
ERAEE - REBESHE  SEEAA(E
FIREREGARTAREEBAAB(RR
FIMEABEE GO ZEE) Z5% M8 E
MMEERREBAZERRZZE—ZFNAH
BHERBILO0BTM T —ZFNANUEAA
1,250 70« Bl ERAHRFE A B REEER -

BEREER AEERPRHAEBK 2 A A
AHEEBRY —HEATHALBAERRENH
BRAReHE - BICHIENAELRAT 22
#8%%E11% * MEB AR ZHREHAERE
BEARFE ZHNM1%E33% ° BRFE R
SERAREENERS N RS EKERH
THrEAMNEFT ZEHRREHHERARS
FTEIREERKEENERRKSER -

RETMBEER AEBRFTMEEEBZ
DRARBERAE—EEAFTNEFRAES
BETERKEE - IZZE BREHKESR
He 2 H5%E20%  MEBRQF 2 HRER
BEH & Z2H65%E16% - BEEREEAH
N2 ERASTRAE®E £50005 MK (EE
A #931,0008 7T) °

REBRAIZER AERBERSFRAAZTEE
BZoRAHEHRAE-—BARRERAZF R
RESOEERN S E - RZTE BEMH
RERFE 2% MEBELAZHRE
REBHZZ2M13% - BENEE ZHRL
BEMR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments

(@)

Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of each Director of the Company
for the years ended 31st March, 2013 and 2012 is

set out below:

Name of Director

For the year ended 31st March, 2013

E2pg

“E-ZFZA=Zt-HLEE

Executive Directors HTESF

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note (i)) ot an s A (B EEG))
Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEBELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles REREE
Non-Executive Director FRTES

Ms. Yeung Chui BELL
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV FHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael B EE

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, B8S, Jp SB3f & - ggS, « ¥4+
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRELE

For the year ended 31st March, 2012

“E-ZEZA=ZT-HLEE

Executive Directors HOTES

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu MR

Mr. Tai Tzu Shi, Angus HEBELE

Mr. Cheung Chi Shing, Charles REREE
Non-Executive Director FRTES

Ms. Yeung Chui (Note (ii) BELL ()
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV FHTES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BB EE

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, B8S, )b SB3f & - ggS « ¥4+
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BRELE

e M BRRMEE

10 EERERITRAEME

@ E=S#HE
TRk -T-_f=ZA=+—H
LEEAAREEEZHSHENT -

Pension

costs-defined

Salaries and Discretionary  contribution
Fees  allowances bonus plans Total

BIKAA

BHRE — RE
e HeREE 2T B fst
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$" 000
FAEL TERT FEL TERT TEL
150 3,706 273 64 4,193
150 1,276 102 35 1,563
150 2,017 153 52 2,372
150 — — — 150
200 — — — 200
200 — — — 200
200 — — — 200
1,200 6,999 528 151 8,878
138 3,400 370 65 3,973
88 1,171 125 31 1,415
88 1,663 175 41 1,967
109 1,175 172 28 1,484
260 — — — 260
150 — — — 150
150 — — — 150
983 7,409 842 165 9,399

Note (i): Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group

Note (ii): Re-designated as Non-Executive Director on 1st September,
2011. All rights and interests of a medical insurance policy
of approximately HK$936,000 have transferred and assigned

to Ms. Yeung Chui.

MEEEG) : ML ME LT AR EBHEEAITR

M) R—T——FNhA—BREBRAFNITE
£ o — D HAE£1936,0007% TT K B8 B AR I 10 4
R EFACHEEREREBR L L -
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10 Directors’ and senior executives’ emoluments
(Continued)

(b)

(o

(d)

(e)

No director waived any emolument during the year
ended 31st March, 2013 (2012: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive
Directors (2012: three Executive Directors and one
Non-Executive Director) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
(2012: one) individual during the year fell within
the band between HK$1,000,001 and HK$1,500,000
(2012: HK$500,001 and HK$1,000,000).

During the year ended 31st March, 2013, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2012: Nil).

Senior management remuneration by band:

HK$0 to HK$500,000
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

A M BRRME

10 EERERTHRAEMSE ()

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

078 7L £500,0007 7T
500,001 ¢ 21,000,000/ 7T
1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000/ 7T

—E-=ZF=ZRA=t+-HULIEEFEAHSE
EERRENHE(ZT—ZF ) -

ENESHFAL
AEBAUGSHFALF (I BRTT
EE(ZE——F:ZNRTEER—
IERTES) HeEHRA LAH
PP -FREMKEMBHBTZAZ
T — & —) HB £ &1,000,001%
JLE1,500,000/8 TR (Z T — —F -
500,001 7T £1,000,0007% JT.) °

R-ZBE-—=€=A=+—-HLFER"
BERENESFS&ESHFcAMALX
NS ERBBEEMARER 2 BN
ERERERUZEB(ZT -5
m) o

SRTBARFMREAEHBERY -

Number of individuals

ABE
2013 2012
— 2
— 1
2 J—
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11

Income tax expense

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the British
Virgin Islands are incorporated under the International
Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands and,
accordingly, are exempted from British Virgin Islands

income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2012:

for the year arising in or derived from Hong Kong.

16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

Subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China
are subject to the Mainland China Corporate Income Tax
at rates of ranging from 12.5% to 25% during the year
(2012: 12.5% to 25%). In accordance with the applicable
laws and regulations, the Group’s subsidiaries established
in Mainland China as wholly foreign owned enterprises or
contractual joint ventures are entitled to full exemption
from Corporate Income Tax for the first two years and a
50% reduction in Corporate Income Tax for the next three
years, commencing from the first profitable year or 1st
January, 2008, whichever is earlier, after offsetting

unexpired tax losses carried forward from previous years.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in Mainland China to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. All dividends
coming from the profits generated by Mainland China
companies after Tst January, 2008 shall be subject to this
withholding income tax. As at 31st March, 2013, the
Group had not accrued any withholding income tax for
the earnings from 1st January, 2008 to 31st March, 2013
of its Mainland China subsidiaries because the Group has
no plan to distribute earnings from its Mainland China
subsidiaries generated in the period from 1st January, 2008
to 31st March, 2013 in the foreseeable future.

The subsidiary established in Singapore is subject to

Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate of 17% (2012:
17%).

o)

11

Bt 35 R MY &

TSP BE X
AARERECHMWEREDNEH BEE T
“HFRI -ARAREBHER RESK L
WERNBARIIBREBERBERAHESRRE
BRBEFEMA Y - Bt B RMEE %
REBRBEMER -

BAMNEHAB FI165%(=F — = F:
16.5% ) 1 & B 48 & 7% 2 &1 FE SR & M &t
HRUE -

EAFBERYREEZHBRARARAFE AR
12.5%%E25% (= & — — F 1 12.5%%25% ) B
EHMPBICEMSE REBEEBEBIEEE -
AR %S AN B LR B 2 W BT B 2 | A
HAEECEIFIEGIELE AEEHBE
FEMABAINNANBEBEEEO S EERN
FEI T N\F-A—BRBFTUUREEA
) EMFrAEREBNCEMER  mE
B=FRIEER -

BE_ZZT+F+= H/\Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁqﬂiﬁj\ﬁ
HANBECEMEREZEREN RZ2ZZTN
fﬁ—ﬂ—ﬁﬁﬁé’ﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\\qﬂlﬁi_Lﬁ'Jt%ﬂ
RIMEEE D IR EBABUI0%TERMEFR
FERFPBEKRINCESR-_ZZENF—A
—HERDOMENREABKIERAEH
RZTE—=F=ZA=+—HB AEELKH
EFERKUHNBARR-_ZTEENF—A—
AE-ZT—=F=ZA=+—HHEHEIRHNF
MR BEEMGH  BAEERATRAR
B R B BT DIRES KA
WEARR-_ZTZEN\F-—A—HE2-_FT—=
FZA=T—HHBENFE-

RET IS AR S 2 MY B A RIIR T N 1 ¥ 5
BB EI7%(ZE—ZF 17%) BH
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11

Income tax expense (Continued)

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated

income statement represents:

Current income tax expense

— Hong Kong profits tax

— Mainland China Corporate Income Tax
— Singapore Corporate Income Tax

Over provision in prior years

Deferred income tax (note 26)

A M BRRME

11 FiBHEx (&)
REFE W EEZRNBROBIERE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET

BVERFT 1S i 2
— BENGEH 4,780 2,899
— R EMER 6,630 857
— S EMER 2,260 3,232
BATEBBERE (504) (1,546)
13,166 5,442
IR E P13 7 (B 7E26) (2,885) (1,930)
10,281 3,512

The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax

differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the

group companies as follows:

Profit/(loss) before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rate applicable to
profits/(losses) in the respective
countries/jurisdictions

Tax exemption

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Deferred tax assets not recognised

Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred
tax assets

Over provision in prior years

Tax charge

AEBzZBBRAEN (BRI FEZHER
EARAKE RGN 2 NEF IR EFE
ZEmeREAMER  AHKROT :

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
B B A 1 (5 48) 19,638 (20,613)
BRATEE R, & 8 AR &
(B8 2 FIEB =
FTE SR 861 (4,245)
i 18 TR (795) (342)
mARBMA (38) (396)
G54 3,906 4,853
RERZBELEMBSHEE 6,851 5,192
EANUERER BT
st EE — (4)
MITFERERE (504) (1,546)
IE X H 10,281 3,512

The average tax rate was 4.3% (2012: 20.6%). The change

in average tax rate is mainly caused by the losses incurred

by the Southern China operations.

TR R R43% (ZFE—Z4F :20.6%) * T
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12

13

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the
Company
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company is

dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of HK$24,027,000 (2012: HK$7,767,000).

Earnings/(losses) per share

Basic

Basic earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by dividing
the Group’s profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders
of the Company by the weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

e M BRRMEE

12

13

AAREHBTEAREER

KRR EHBEARGENER KRR ATB
RN 2 & F & %24,027,0008 T (ZF
— 4% 17,767,000/ TT) °

FRAEN(BH)

%N
SRERBF,(ER) THIRF N AR D FE
BAAEMGAEEER (BR)BUEET
TR ME T B

2013 2012
Profit/(loss) attributable to the equity holders KRBT E AN
of the Company (HK$’000) &R,/ (BB (FET) 9,357 (24,125)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BEITEBRZ NEFI &
in issue ("000) (F ) 525,135 525,135
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (HK cents) BRERNETF (EE)
(B AL) 1.78 (4.59)

Diluted

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. Shares issuable under the employee share
option scheme are the only dilutive potential ordinary
shares. A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average daily market share price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of
the subscription rights attached to the outstanding share
options. The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.
For the year ended 31st March, 2012, the computation of
diluted losses per share does not assume the exercise of
the outstanding share options as the exercise price of

these options is higher than the average market price for

shares. There were no share options outstanding as at 31st
March, 2013.

s
ERBERF (BB DRBREMEATEE
METEAREERE KAEDHITE
BRZmMEFHHAE - BREBERES T T
BOZROAE —EXBEERRERZEELR
B e s E AT IR M AR ITE B EFTIH AR
BEZEREE TEAFEGEAQARG
FHEAMEBE)WEZROHEE - Lills
HzBROBEeHBRITEBEREMED 2
AZBROHEBELRR - —_E——F=A=+—
BLEFE EEREFTBEBIEBRI WA
TEOERESHITE AL SERENTT
FEaREERFYMEE R_T—=F
ZA=+—BUREHRITENERE -
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13 Earnings/(losses) per share (Continued)
Diluted (Continued)
For the year ended 31st March, 2013 and 31st March,
2012, diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per

share as there were no dilutive potential shares.

14 Dividends

Interim dividend — HK$0.01

(2012: HK$0.01) per share
Proposed final dividend — HK$0.01

At a meeting held on 26th June, 2013, the directors
proposed a final dividend of HK1 cent per share,
amounting to a total dividend of approximately
HK$5,251,000, which is to be approved by the Company’s
equity holders at the Company’s upcoming Annual General
Meeting. This proposed final dividend has not been
reflected as a dividend payable in these consolidated
financial statements as at 31st March, 2013, but has been
reflected as an appropriation of distributable reserves
during the year ended 31st March, 2013.

The amount of proposed final dividend for 2013 was
based on 525,135,288 shares in issue as at 26th June,
2013.

A M BRRME

13

14

SRER,(FEE) (&)

- 5-1¢ )
—E-——F=ZA=+-—HAK=ZE—=F=H
E+-HLEFE BREBRANBERER
EART  AWEATRENBERD -

REIRE — BRBEBIL
ZE—ZF GREBUL

FORAER B — TROEE L

(2012: HK$0.01) per share (ZZE——F: 8RBEML)

iz 8
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
Fi8 T
5,251 5,251
5,251 5,251
10,502 10,502

RZZE—=ZF~A-t+ "BEHEEeH
EFEEFZRERGRE - FRBBUL - BRE
4R FE #95,251,000% 7T - B R FETE R R B F K
EREAAAEEFEASTI  HFEHRER
HRERBEE-_TE—ZF=-A=+t—RH2&K
EU BRI ERBRAENSRS BB 5E
HE-_Z-—=Z6#=ZA=Z=+—BALFEETHK
Bz -

—E-CFEREAPREERE-T—=F
ANAZ+HINEE AEB %77 A525,135,288%
ATHE o
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15

Land use rights 15 TR
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid AEERLTHFARNESEBENEEREE
operating lease payments and their net book amounts are REREERESE 20T :

analysed as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TET
In Mainland China held on: RNGEETESE S
Land use rights of between 10 to 50 years N F10250%F 2 + #fF F & 26,376 26,854
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
At Tst April R A—H 26,854 26,743
Amortisation 5y (753) (744)
Translation adjustments E R 275 855
At 31st March R=RA=+—H 26,376 26,854
The amortisation expense recognised in the consolidated REEERERFPERZEHEASL o0 T -
income statement is analysed as follows:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
Cost of sales $HE R A 12 12
General and administrative expenses — M RITHBAX 741 732
753 744
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16

Property, plant and equipment

Year ended 31st March, 2012

Opening net book value
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Provision for impairment
Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2012

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book value

Year ended 31st March, 2013

Opening net book value

Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book value

At 31st March, 2013

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and

impairment

Net book value

BE-_T——#%
ZRA=t+—HI1LFE

FIREFE

RE

e

HE

BB

EES

BN TR

FRERFE

—T——fF
ZRA=+—8

R

B ERRE

AR FE

HE-T—=%
ZA=t—RALFE

FHREFE

ANE

i

HeE

Bz

ERAZ

FRIEEFE

—E-=F
“A=+—H

PR

ZFHTE RORE

BREFE

A M BRRME

16 ME -BERZRHE

Land and Plant and  Furniture and Motor  Construction

buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
T REF HaE  ERARRB _E EEIR et
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET TAT THET THET TAT THAT
147,739 286,603 7,575 3,858 627 446,402
32,210 34,234 1,700 463 1,411 70,018
(7,590) (54,910) (2,244) (1,136) — (65,880)
— (35) (15) (M — (51)
— (27,755) — — — (27,755)

160 106 88 — (354) —
3,742 5,168 141 68 38 9,157
176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
238,021 896,462 60,917 16,160 1,722 1,213,282
(61,760) (653,051) (53,672) (12,908) — (781,391)
176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
176,261 243,411 7,245 3,252 1,722 431,891
4,416 35,895 3,235 904 14,530 58,980
(7,982) (54,619) (2,298) (964) — (65,863)
— (370) (66) (16) — (452)

— 1,628 385 — (2,013) —

838 1,203 55 18 179 2,293
173,533 227,148 8,556 3,194 14,418 426,849
243,786 936,901 64,342 16,984 14,418 1,276,431
(70,253) (709,753) (55,786) (13,790) — (849,582)
173,533 227,148 8,556 3,194 14,418 426,849
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16

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The net book value of the Group’s interests in leasehold

e M BRRMEE

16 % BERSKEGE
FEESFARERENAE LI BN R

land classified as finance leases is analysed as follows: mFEE D ET
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
In Hong Kong held on: UREERES
Leases of between 10 to 50 years NF10E50F K E 2,844 2,931

(a)

Depreciation expense recognised in the consolidated

income statement is analysed as follows:

Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs
General and administrative expenses

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant
and machinery under installation in Mainland
China.

At 31st March, 2013,

total net

land and buildings with a
book value of approximately
HK$3,388,000 (2012: HK$4,104,000) were pledged
as collateral for the Group’s banking facilities (note
33).

At 31st March, 2013, machinery of the Group with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$17,074,000

(2012: Nil) was held under finance leases (note
24).

(a)

HERAE
HERDHER
— MR RATH B X

REAWRRRRRZHERS -
mT

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TAT
61,592 61,644
463 475
3,808 3,761
65,863 65,880

ERTRRIZRETEREZPNEEX
MAEBFMLEDAOBES -

RZZE—=F=A=+—8  E@FE
#93,388,000/% (= T — = &
4104000,%75)2itm&$§a&ﬁﬁ1/5$%
EEITEEHE 2 WEEIT (M 5E33) -

RZBE—=ZF=ZA=+—8 A&EEKE
M {8 4917,074,0008 T (Z T — Z F :
E)NRBIZVBRLEHE (24) ©
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17

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries

A M BRRME

17 RMBLARZRERGHE

— Company — AR 7
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Investment in unlisted shares, at cost JEETERG - BAAR 91,449 91,449
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE WP B A B FRIE 166,997 161,316
258,446 252,765
Less: Accumulated impairment losses W REHREEE (10,284) (10,284)
248,162 242,481
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETBT B A Rl FIE (35,156) (43,244)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and considered as equity in nature. All amounts are

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free and repayable on demand. Except for an amount of
approximately HK$1,080,000 (2012: HK$1,080,000) which
is denominated in Renminbi, the balances are

denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

FEW T E A R R TR DA R RARE
PBAESEE - PRAFAAABTIE -

ERWEARREBENERR T kEE
ZREE - BRHEP—%41,080,0008 T (=ZF
— =4 :1,080,0007% 7T) B KR E A A R 5 E
Gh - BRI TTHIME -
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17 Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17 R BATZBREREREE
— Company (Continued) — AT ()
The principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, 2013 were as RZE-—Z=ZF=ZRA=+—H FZ2WEBAA
follows: mE
Place of incorporation Issued and Percentage of equity
Name of company and operations fully paid capital interest held Principal activities
DAEEE REMAR LR i B BRARBERE FiERER D TEEH
Directly Indirectly
=R:3 [5F:3
Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd. British Virgin Islands Us$2 100% — Investment holding
EBEBRES 2ERTT RARK
Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Cook Islands US$200 100% — Investment holding
Limited RRE s 200% T BERER
Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd. Singapore $$8,759,396 100% — Printing of packaging materials
0% 8,759,396 M3 7T and production of paper
products
BEMBENMREREE
Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM1,000,000 100% — Printing of packaging materials
BRAS 1,000,000 5 7 35 7 and production of paper
products
BEMBAR RAREE
Everfar Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000 50% 50% Investment holding
KBEBRNS 20,0003 7T REER
Starlite Visual Communication Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 — 100% Trading and products
EXRBEBERAA EE 2,000,000/ 7T development
BoHRERRE
Star Union Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$2 — 100% Property holding
EEERAA B/ HE 2B HEME
Starlite Consumer Products, Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 — 100% Investment holding
KBHRBRES ES RARK
Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Investment holding
KBHBRES 1X7T RARK
Starlite International Development Limited British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong US$1 — 100% Inactive
AEEBRBE /BB 1X7T RIEE
Starlite International Marketing Services British Virgin Islands/Hong Kong Us$1 — 100% Inactive
Limited AREBRBSE /BB X7 RBER
Starlite Laser Graphics Limited Hong Kong HK$3,230,000 — 100% Inactive
3 ordinary EEE
3,230,000/ 7
LB
HK$170,000 — —
non-voting deferred (i)
170,000/ 7
ERREELT
B2 i)
Starlite Management Services Limited Hong Kong HK$200 — 100% Provision of management
it 2007 7T services
REEERY
Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100% Holding of trade and service
Limited KEBERRES 1%L marks
BEESRREBEF
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17

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries

— Company (Continued)

Name of company

AE BB

Starlite Development International Limited

EXRBRERERAA

Starlite Paper Products Limited
ERARBERAR

Starlite Printers Limited

ENXERBRRAF

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited
ERERI(FE)BERRA

Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
EXER CRINERAD R

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
E R (FMN)BRD R

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited
Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited

BMEXRRALERAR

Greenworks International Limited

BEIRBARERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited
HEMERZETEBRARA

Place of incorporation
and operations

SRR R K B

Hong Kong
Gl

Hong Kong/Mainland China

EE/TE

Hong Kong
&k

British Virgin Islands
EEERAREE

British Virgin Islands
EBEBRES

Mainland China
f

Mainland China
hE

British Virgin Islands
ABERRES

British Virgin Islands
KBEBRHS

Mainland China
#

Hong Kong
B

Mainland China
f

A M BRRME

— A2 7 (&)

Issued and
fully paid capital
ERTREERE

HK$200
2007 7T

HK$1,738,000
ordinary
1,738,000/ 7T
AR
HK$262,000
non-voting deferred (i)
262,000/ 7T
ERFERELT

B84 (i)

HK$2,700,000
ordinary
2,700,0007% 7T
AR
HK$2,300,000
non-voting deferred (i)
2,300,000/ 7T
BRERET

B% 15 (i)

Us$1
1%7T

Us$100
1005 7T

US$8,000,000
8,000,0003 75

US$20,000,000
20,000,000 7T

Us$1
1%£7T

US$256,420
256,420 7T,

US$6,000,000
6,000,0003 7T

HK$2
28T

US$8,000,000
8,000,0003 75

Percentage of equity

interest held

FERER A
Directly Indirectly
E# %

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

17 RMBLARZRERGHE

Principal activities

TEXEH

Trading of paper products
BRURES

Production of paper products

MamEE

Printing and trading of packaging
materials

BEMBOBRES

Investment holding

RARK

Investment holding

RARK

Printing of packaging materials
and production of paper
products

BEMHENR REREE

Printing of packaging materials
and production of paper
products and labels

BEMBENR R R E

Investment holding

AR

Investment holding

REEK

Production of environmental
friendly and other paper
products

EERREAGERER

Investment holding and trading
of environmental friendly and
other paper products

RABRBRRRARREMBRE
mE 5

Printing of packaging materials
and production of paper
products

BEMHER REREE
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17

18

Investments in and balances with subsidiaries 17

— Company (Continued)

Note:

(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant

company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at
any time during the year ended 31st March, 2013 (2012:

Nil).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong,

at fair value
— Unlisted insurance policy investment,

at fair value

e M BRRMEE

RMBARZRERGKE

— XA A (&)

i

(i) HEERZRETROIFARNEERES - HER
ML ERERE - BRIEBEHEAR 2 MFEB
50,000,000,000 7T * BRI A AEEZHRE W

BRMARERE  TERZEEMSRK RIFFHEA
A1) AR AR R AE 2 9k E £50,000,000,00078 7T ©

FEHBARANBRE-_Z—=4=A=+—
HIEFEREMRHEEEETEEER(Z
T—_F )

/A

18 AIHEMBEEE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
A ENBEE

— REBLTHERES
EAFEE 1,729 1,400

— FEETHRBRERE
BEATFEE 3,730 —
5,459 1,400

Movement of the available-for-sale financial assets is as

follows:

As at Tst April
Additions
Revaluation gain/(loss) recognised in investment

revaluation reserve

As at 31st March

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FET

HnEmA—H 1,400 1,433

# 0 3,563 —
RIEE FEEREE S R

(& #8) 496 (33)

R=ZA=+—H 5,459 1,400
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18

19

Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in the

following currencies:

Us$ EV
HK$ BT
Inventories

Raw materials B K oE
Work-in-progress TR
Finished goods B K G

The cost of inventories expensed, and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$663,651,000 (2012:
HK$687,544,000). During the year, the Group has
provided for inventory obsolescence of approximately
HK$7,532,000 (2012: write back of provision of
HK$546,000), which was included in cost of sales.

As at 31st March, 2013, there were floating charges over

certain of the Group’s inventories of approximately
HK$29,319,000 (2012: HK$35,858,000) to secure the trust

receipts import bank loan arrangements (note 33).

A M BRRME

18 AHHEMBEE (K

A EMBEEATIIEESE:

19 ©FE

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
3,730 —
1,729 1,400
5,459 1,400
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
56,646 55,154
24,840 18,835
28,661 32,144
110,147 106,133

7&K A A H4663,651,0008 T (ZZF — =
F : 687,544,000/ 7T) 51| E 5 32 0 51 A 85 & K
AP -RAFERN AEBEHFFERERE
497,532,000/ 7T (= F — = 4F : @1 #546,000/8
o) WEEE I AEER AT -

R-E—ZFZA=Z+—8B AEEHE
29,319,000/ 7L (= T — = 4 : 35,858,000/8
T ZHEERERBBEEDRTERTHESR
A (FT5E33) ©
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20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

A M BRRME

20 BESRURRAKREE BAAXRE

deposits k&
Group Company
£8 AF
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$"000
FTET TET FHET TET
Trade receivables B 5 W R K 246,598 220,943 — —
Less: provision for impairment & @ & U BR 7R & B &
of receivables (6,018) (7,856) — —
Trade receivables — net B EWERER — F8 240,580 213,087 — —
Bill receivables e EE 465 1,656 — —
Trade and bill receivables BRWERRER 241,045 214,743 — —
Prepayments and deposits TR FRIERES 28,287 16,626 703 696
269,332 231,369 703 696
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, BRBEFRREER BERBEREEOE
prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values EEARSRERFE-
The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally SEETHREFEEHAR —RAB30REI0RT
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill ZE-HORUWERLAERBEZREKGRERH)
receivables by invoice date is as follows: W
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERT TET
1 to 90 days 1290K 215,553 186,351
91 to 180 days 91E 180K 25,516 30,494
181 to 365 days 1812365 3,981 3,465
Over 365 days BiE365K 2,013 2,289
247,063 222,599
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables B FE MR OB B B S (6,018) (7,856)
241,045 214,743

As at 31st March, 2013, trade receivables of
HK$203,912,000 (2012: HK$176,922,000) were fully
performing. HK$36,668,000 (2012: HK$36,165,000) were
past due but not considered impaired, of which
HK$36,015,000 were overdue less than 90 days and
HK$653,000 were overdue between 90 and 180 days.
These relate to a number of independent customers for
Trade

whom there is no recent history of default.

receivables of HK$6,018,000 (2012: HK$7,856,000) were
considered impaired and provided for. The amount of the
provision was HK$6,018,000 as at 31st March, 2013 (2012:
HK$7,856,000).

R-_E—=F=—A=+—H
203,912,000 L (Z T —=4F :
BB EBSEIT

B 5 IR I
176,922,000/
36,668,000 L (= &

— — 4 36,165, 000/ L) E B EIERARE
B - E & B8 E36,015,0007 7T B #E H  57290

X+ 5 45M653,0007% 7T E 1@ HI90= 180K -

S Parad
Z%E

P SR W B RLH 2 Z BBULEP -
2 5 J& U Bk 5%6,018,00008 T (Z T — — & ¢

7,856,000/ L) M IR R E KB fEH B -

T—ZF=ZA=+—8  BEEEEGO0I
7T (ZZF— 4% 7,856,000 7T) °

Rn=
8,000
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20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20
deposits (Continued)

The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated

in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar BT
United States dollar e
Chinese Renminbi AR
Singapore dollar N T
Others HAb

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

A M BRRME

EZBRWERRRE BAARE
REE (8)
AREE 2 B 5 MR R R R R T S5 -

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT TET
52,469 56,500
105,440 91,923
49,853 44,620
19,326 15,371
19,975 14,185
247,063 222,599

BHRUERTRERBZEHNT

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

TR TET

Beginning of the year F 4] 7,856 5,148

Provision for impairment of trade receivables B 5 W R TR E & 3,144 2,678
Receivables written off during the year as F AR E Z FE I

uncollectible AR R 88 (5,034) (119)

Translation adjustment E 5 F 52 149

End of the year F R 6,018 7,856

The creation and release of the provision for impairment
of trade receivables have been included in general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated income

statement.

The other classes within trade and bill receivables,

prepayments and deposits do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date

is the fair value of each class of receivables mentioned

above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

BHREEFRERBRLERIEREE K
@R R RITERAX P AR -

RESREEFRER BNFREARRSES S
MEMBERNT TNREEREELE -

RBEERLESRBKEFNESEERR
HERERFE - ARBEALKRFTEEANE
AR o
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21

22

Derivative financial instruments

Interest-rate swaps

The Group has an outstanding interest rate swap contract
with notional principal amount of HK$50,000,000 (2012:
HK$50,000,000) to swap floating rate borrowing to fixed
interest rate. As at 31st March, 2013 and 2012, the fixed
interest rate was 3.73% and the floating rate was Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate.

A M BRRME

21

MEEHE W

TEEMIT A
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHR FHT
884 2,536

AEBDALENF XIEREONRTEAS
%8 750,000,000/ 7T (= & — — 4 : 50,000,000
BIT) BRI RYZ B A R A E E K o
RZE—=FR=_FT—=—F=ZR=+—8"
MEEHEOUBBRTRAERSIERZD
FE - Ml EEEMEARITIE -

Bank balances and cash 22 HMITHEEFRBES
Group Company
=L | AT
2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FET FET
Cash at bank and in hand SBOTRFERS 152,396 181,452 71 278
Short-term bank deposits BHISRITE R 51,288 28,975 — —
203,684 210,427 71 278
Maximum exposure to SESEEN- I

credit risk 202,859 209,349 71 278

As at 31st March, 2013, the effective interest rate on cash
at bank, short-term bank deposits was 0.062% (2012:
0.1%). The short-term bank deposits have an average
maturity of 2.6 months (2012: 4 months).

R-ZZE—=ZFZA=+—8 ROTGEX - EH
RITFEFRZBERFNERFL0.062E(ZF—=
F01E) WERHBITERFAHEBHBE A
26[R(ZE——F:4FA) -
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22

Bank balances and cash (Continued)

Bank balances and cash were denominated in the

following currencies:

A M BRRME

22 HMITHEEFERBES (E)
BITEERES DEATEEEE

Group Company
58 AT

2013 2012 2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FET
Hong Kong dollar B TT 32,905 37,468 71 278
Chinese Renminbi AR 59,187 59,922 — —
United States dollar ESViH 54,195 61,681 — —
Euro BT 10,613 5,396 — —
Singapore dollar TN T 39,072 39,811 — —
Others H 7,712 6,149 — —
203,684 210,427 71 278

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
Renminbi are deposited with banks in Mainland China.
The conversion of these Chinese Renminbi denominated
balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of
funds out of Mainland China is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the

Government of The People’s Republic of China.

For the purpose of cash flow statements, cash and cash

equivalents include the followings:

FEBUAARBIEzRERAEESF
BMRABEZRIT - BAREBREDINE RE
HPBEASDEARKMEBF M2 IME
EHRARRPEE

RenBXRTNASRBASFEERETI

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FA&ET

Cash at bank and in hand RITRFRRE 152,396 181,452
Short-term bank deposits with maturity DPR=M@AREHz

less than 3 months HHRITER 30,119 8,065

Bank overdrafts (note 23) $R17H = (M E23) (102) (8,707)

182,413 180,810
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23 Borrowings 23 BE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Long-term bank loans (Note) RHERTTE R (D) 155,970 140,124
Short-term bank loans HMHRITER 47,477 46,903
Trust receipts import bank loans SR WIBEEDORTER 29,319 35,858
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 102 8,707
232,868 231,592
Less: amounts due within one year shown under & : JIAREBBEZ —F R
current liabilities E (222,916) (202,225)
Non-current portion JE B HA 2B 19 9,952 29,367
Note:  As at 31st March, 2013, the Group had breached certain financial e R=F-—Z=ZF=ZA=+—-8" 25%?@&_%%@ 2‘,7
covenants in respect of the borrowings of approximately 65,998,000/ jL (= F — = 1764%,577,000%7E>?ﬂ1’%
HK$65,998,000 (2012: HK$64,577,000) and accordingly, the non- )3 A5 1 5 - UL - U5 B 945,871,000/ T
current portion of these borrowings, amounting to approximately (::—:i:40,891,0(207%71)‘Eﬁ]?EEﬂ%ﬁﬁM’;}E@:?
HK$45,671,000 (2012: HK$40,891,000) has been reclassified as TEEZAST - RENORRABRAM-
current liabilities as at 31st March, 2013.
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BMEZHEBAMT -
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Wholly payable within 5 years PHROLFRNEER 223,982 211,196
Wholly payable after 5 years 2HRAFRER 8,886 20,396
232,868 231,592
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BEZEBHBAMT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET
Within 1 year —FR 131,795 134,649
Between 1 and 2 years —E - F 47,865 33,129
Between 2 and 5 years —“ERF 44,322 52,754
Over 5 years BidAF 8,886 11,060
232,868 231,592
The above amounts due are based on the scheduled R FBBZI B RBRBEERS L PIEELEE
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore EZERAH RITESEZRKEERK
the effect of any repayment on demand clause. 2K
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23  Borrowings (Continued) 23 mE(#E)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were RITREZREETIRATERFIE
denominated in the following currencies:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR
Hong Kong dollar BT 161,983 159,872
Chinese Renminbi ARE 47,465 47,132
United States dollar Eiw 5,147 4,436
Malaysian ringgit ("RM”) SRMEET(TET)) 18,261 20,152
Euro BT 12 —
232,868 231,592
The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of RBELRAZHREFENT :
reporting period were as follows:
2013 2012
HK$ RMB Us$ RM Euro HK$ RMB us$ RM
BT AR¥ ES B B BT ARE ESH BT
Long-term bank loans RERTER  2.75% - - 4.30% —  228%  635% — 4.30%
Short-term bank loans RERITER —  7.29% — - 1.95% 5.00%  7.19% — —
Trust receipts import bank {5 FEM i # A
loans RITER 5.01% —  577% — — 5.02% — 5.23% —
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 5.75% - - — —  539%% — — —
The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their MEZFEEEORAATE:-
fair values.
Details of the banking facilities available to the Group and AEBRTEREEEEREEERFERN
pledge of assets are disclosed in note 33. Bt £33 o
24 Finance lease obligations 24 MBENER
Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the MBEETRETHNEGE HEEENOER

leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. EEBLEEA AUHEEAEEUIMIRE -
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24  Finance lease obligations (Continued) 24 BBRHEBER (H)
The Group’s finance lease obligations were analysed as AEEZHBROEEITWOT -
follows:
2013 2012
HK$000 HK$000
FHET FET
Gross finance lease obligations B R ER B
— minimum lease payments: — RIEEN:
Within one year —F AR 4,747 —
Between one and two years NF—FEZMF 4,747 —
Between two and five years NEMEERF 3,956 —
13,450 —
Future finance charges on finance leases AKX EER (1,386) —
Present value of finance lease obligations BHZHEENHRE 12,064 —
Present value of finance lease obligations: MR OEBHIERE
Within one year —F R 4,258 —
Between one and two years NF—FEMF 4,258 —
Between two and five years NFMEERF 3,548 —
12,064 —
25 Trade and bill payables 25 BESENRIRRERE
The ageing of trade and bill payables is as follows: EFRNERRERREWT
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
1 to 90 days 1£290K 109,281 99,025
91 to 180 days 91£180K 7,866 9,652
181 to 365 days 181£2365K 67 1,605
Over 365 days H#iB365K 256 332
117,470 110,614
The Group’s trade and bill payables were denominated in NEEZESEMEFRREE AT EEDE :
the following currencies:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TET
Hong Kong dollar BT 40,081 46,779
Chinese Renminbi AR 57,362 49,664
United States dollar e 3,668 3,233
Others Hip 16,359 10,938

117,470 110,614
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26 Deferred income tax 26 EEFEBHR
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is WMEBEEAHAITEMNGEENBEEEER
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets EMEBEYE BREMENEEREBE
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred BERA-—VREEARNEERFEEERTE
income tax assets and liabilities relate to income tax AT ERITRARREBBRRER -
levied by same taxation authority on either the taxable AEEFMSHEER BB EHEE 58
entity or different taxable entities where there is an U

intention to settle the balances on a net basis. The net

amounts are as follows:

2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Deferred tax assets BRIEFRBHREE (2,828) (2,178)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTSEHEE 8,015 10,581
Deferred tax liabilities, net EEFEREETHE 5,187 8,403
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as FEEFERFE2EHFBOT :
follows:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Beginning of the year F 9] 8,403 10,415
Credited to income statement (note 11) U as Rt A (B EE11) (2,885) (1,930)
Translation adjustments E AR (331 (82)
End of the year Fx 5,187 8,403
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities EIEFEHEERBEZZEH (W RAENE
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances — R EREE) T
within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: BEEREHREE:
Tax losses Provisions Total
HEEFR B Foh
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$’000
TR TAT TR THT THET TAT

Beginning of the year F4) — 876 3,336 2,624 3,336 3,500
Credited/(charged) to income statement AU z5 5%

A G0k) — (896) 561 649 561 (247)
Translation adjustments ER AR — 20 367 63 367 83

End of the year FR — — 4,264 3,336 4,264 3,336
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26 Deferred income tax (Continued)

A M BRRME

26 EEFTEH ()

Deferred tax liabilities: BELEREHREE:
Accelerated taxation
depreciation
IEBEITE
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
THxT FHT
Beginning of the year F1) 11,739 13,915
Credited to income statement Rz R FEA (2,324) (2,177)
Translation adjustment TE R 36 1
End of the year Fa5 9,451 11,739

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$34,826,000 (2012: HK$23,692,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilized. Out of the total, approximately HK$17,624,000
(2012: HK$15,457,000) in respect of tax losses can be
carried forward indefinitely to set off against future taxable
income and the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$9,856,000 (2012: HK$5,171,000) will expire in 2016.
The estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign investors
starting from Tst January, 2008. A lower withholding tax
rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. All dividends
coming from the profits generated by the PRC companies
after 1 January 2008 shall be subject to this withholding
income tax. As at 31st March, 2013, the Group has not
accrued withholding income tax for the earnings of
HK$23,802,000 (2012: HK$10,595,000) of its PRC

subsidiaries because the Group does not have a plan to

distribute these earnings from its PRC subsidiaries.

HECHEHREETSWER  AEE W AR
RN TR B R ] HURE B 1 2= 2EIETRT
18 Bt & E #934,826,0008 T(= T — = F:
23,692,000 JT) c B B E BB EH B L
17,624,000/ 7t (= F — =4 : 15,457,000/ JT)
A DA £ R HA 45 88 DAHR S8 R R B R B LA - H £4
% & 18 499,856,000 w(= & — = & :
5,171,000 70) &R —F — N E E W - 5t
MEEBRIUARN B BRI EERENSEI -

BE_ZTZLtF+ A NBBEGNFEAR
HMBECEMSHEZEREN RZTEN
F-—RA—BFEB FMEARTFEKINGEY
BEIMEE B DR REBABBI0%TEIRATEHR ©
R BB B AR A 5 B B M R B ET B S IR
2 —EREMNERASHEBESEA -ME
RABEXNLNECESR-_ZEZTNF—HA—H
BHERMFEORE BB TEIRAEH -
R-ZE—=ZF=ZA=+—8B A£EBIL k5
1 7 B AR 37 B BT BB 2 &) Bk B /923,802,000 7T
—Z— =% :10,595,000% r) F| B & 42 E {7
TBRAEHR BAEEWETEHIREFRE
B ST RO B B A B EY FIHE o
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27

28

A M BRRME

Share capital 27 RAE
2013 2012
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
RIDEE HE Mt g B H{E
000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
FB TR TR TET
Authorised — EERA —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 BREEIET
each ZERR 1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid — BETR#RE —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 FRMmELTET
each: R
Beginning and end of the FURFHK
year 525,135 52,514 525,135 52,514
28 EREBERE

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an employee
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) to
replace the old share option scheme adopted on 6th
September, 2002. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company may grant options to employees (including
Executive Directors of the Company) to subscribe for
shares in the Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of
the nominal value of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time excluding for this purpose any
shares issued on the exercise of options. The exercise
price will be determined by the Company’s board of
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant of the
options, (ii) an average closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant of the options, and (iii) the nominal value of
the Company’s shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group has no

legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the

options in cash.

RZE—ZFNATHB  ARAEM—E
EEREFI(ERETSDUIRRAR ST
TZZFRANARAZEBRESTE - BE
BEREFEAAFAIMEIL(BREAQF 2H
TEEB)REBREURBAQGRG  mA
BAOZROBRZARRBTHDEITRN
230% BT HEETEEREMET IR
D REBEBHARRIZEESRET  ETAE
RUATZBZ&EE - (WVRE LA BEARAR
MZWHE: (VAR ARGRERER LA
AMAMESEAZKRODFHRME: Ri)AA
AIRMDzEEBEIFREIT) - REEYE
ATERMEERMTOER ARSI SHERHE -
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28 Employee share options (Continued) 28 EEBREGE
Movements in the number of share options outstanding M ARITEEREN B RABETEES IR
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as FHHEEHMT
follows:
2013 2012
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price share options exercise price share options
THEE [ Yvg TTEE B
IR H HE MEFHH # B
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At Tst April REA—H 0.385 19,520,000 0.385 23,020,000
Cancelled HR Y 0.385  (10,400,000) — —
Lapsed E 0.385  (9,120,000) 0.385 (3,500,000
At 31st March R=A=+—H — 0.385 19,520,000
Share options outstanding at 31st March, 2013 have the RZB-ZHFZA=Z+-BHARTENBR
following exercise dates, expiry dates and exercise prices: BOTERE ERABRTEENT
First exercise date Expiry dates Exercise price Number of share options
BRITEAH &% B TEE BRERE
HK$ 2013 2012
BT
21st January, 2009 20th January, 2013 0.385 — 2,970,000
—EEAE-A=-+—H —E-=%—H=+H
Tst August, 2009 20th January, 2013 0.385 — 5,650,000
—ZZEAFNA—R —E--F%—-A=tH
Tst August, 2010 20th January, 2013 0.385 — 5,450,000
—Z-ZFNA—H —E-=Zf—-A=tH
Tst August, 2011 20th January, 2013 0.385 — 5,450,000
—E-——%7\A—H —E-=%—A=-+H
— 19,520,000
As at 31st March, 2013, nil (2012: 19,520,000) share R-B-ZFZAZF+-RUMATHNE
options were exercisable. fEAE (T — —4 :19,520,000) °
No share options were exercised in 2013. REZT— = F W BT REBRARRATE -
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29 Reserves

Group
As at Tst April, 2011

Loss attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
— Decrease in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year

Employee share option scheme
— Lapse of share options
— Share based payments
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2012

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

As at Tst April, 2012

Profit attributable to the equity holders of
the Company
Other comprehensive income
— Increase in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets
— Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for the year

Employee share option scheme

— Lapse of share options
Increase in capital reserve
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2013

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

£
RZE-——ENA—H

RRAREBREARGER

R 2B
— AREEHEE
E2ATERD
—ExER

FRAREREAR

EEEEETS
— BRERN
— Bty f#E
BENRE

R-Z—-—#=fA=+—H

RE:
— AR E
— %fe

RZE-ZFWNA—H
ARRRBHHEBARERF

At 2E RS
— ARHENBEEL
AFEEM
—EAZE

FRAREREAE
EEREETE
— BBRER XK

AARREED
ENRE

R-Z2-=f=ZA=+—H

RE:
— RERS
— Kt

A M BRRME

29 f#E
Share-based
Share Capital compensation Investment Translation  Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R 45 8 &

RO EE BEXRME W RERHE EXERF KRZEAN ag
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL  THARL TExr  TAT  TER  TART  TER
127,796 1,169 2,122 697 63,420 335399 530,603
— — — — — (24,125)  (24,125)

— — — (33) — — (33)

_ _ — — 9,314 — 9,314

— — — (33) 9,314 (24,125)  (14,844)

— — (184) — — 184 —

— — 4 — — — 4

— — — — — (13,128)  (13,128)

— — (180) (33) 9,314 (37,069)  (27,968)
127,796 1,169 1,942 664 72,734 298,330 502,635
— — — — — 5,251 5,251
127,796 1,169 1,942 064 72,734 293,079 497,384
127,796 1,169 1,942 664 72,734 298,330 502,635
127,796 1,169 1,942 664 72,734 298330 502,635
— — — — — 9,357 9,357

— — — 496 — — 496

_ _ — — 6,104 - 6,104

— — — 496 6,104 9,357 15957

- - (1,942) - — 1,942 -

— 623 — — — — 623

_ — — — — (10,502)  (10,502)

— 623 (1,942) 496 6,104 797 6,078
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 299,127 508,713
- - - - - 5,251 5,251
127,796 1,792 — 1,160 78,838 293,876 503,462
127,796 1,792 _ 1,160 78,838 299,127 508,713




29 Reserves (Continued)

Company

As at Tst April, 2011

Profit for the year

Employee share option scheme
— Lapse of share options
— Share based payments

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2012

Representing:
— Proposed dividend
— Others

As at Tst April, 2012

Profit for the year

Employee share option scheme
— Lapse of share options

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2013
Representing:

— Proposed dividend
— Others
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RZTE-——FMWA—H
FRER
EEERESE

— BREXR

— B AE#E
BERRE

WZZE—Z=-F#=A=+—8

RE:
— BURE S
— Hf

RZTE——FmMA—H
F 1 i F
BB R 2

— BRELHN
BARE

RZE-=F=A=+—-8

K&
— RRE S
— Hf

A M BRRME

29 &4 (&)
Share-based
Share Capital compensation Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
A2 B &

I 10 5 B BARRE 5 REEF BE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TEL THEL TET TEL
127,796 520 2,122 21,542 151,980
— — — 7,767 7,767

— — (184) 184 —

— — 4 — 4
— — — (13,128) (13,128)
127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
_ _ - 5,251 5,251
127,796 520 1,942 11,114 141,372
127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
127,796 520 1,942 16,365 146,623
— — — 24,027 24,027

— — (1,942) 1,942 —
— — — (10,502) (10,502)
127,796 520 — 31,832 160,148
_ _ — 5,251 5,251
127,796 520 — 26,581 154,897
127,796 520 — 31,832 160,148
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30 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 30 HZABREFE XM

(@) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income tax to (@ BERAER (BB BLCEEBELR
cash generated from operations: EZ2Ek:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET TET
Profit/(loss) before income tax B AR (E8) 19,638 (20,613)
Adjustments for: KT -
— Interest income — FLEUA (309) (422)
— Interest expense — MEXH 10,171 9,205
— Amortisation of land use rights — T AR 753 744
— Depreciation of property, plant and —E BERREZ
equipment e 65,863 65,880
— Net losses on disposal of property, — PEVE - BEEIBZ
plant and equipment B8 F 103 51
— Provision for impairment of property, — ME - -BERREKEZ
plant and equipment DEREREL — 27,755
— Fair value gain on interest-rate swaps — FEREBBHEHZ
NP EW R (1,651) (814)
— Provision for impairment of receivables — JE U BR OB B B 3,144 2,678
— Provision for/(write-back of) inventory — FEREREE(B#)
obsolescence 7,532 (546)
— Share based payments — RO ZHME — 4
— Foreign exchange losses/(gains) — EREE () 5,026 (1,871)
110,270 82,051
Changes in working capital (excluding effects %18 & & & &)
of translation adjustments) (TERBRELAZRNEE)
— Inventories —FE8 (11,546) 36,606
— Trade and bill receivables — BEoRUERRRRE (29,446) 19,212
— Prepayments and deposits — BNFERES (7,218) (2,878)
— Trade and bill payables — BORNERRER 6,856 (44,359)
— Accruals and other payables — EEEEREMERNK 12,401 6,801

Net cash generated from operations REERES IR R 81,317 97,433
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30 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement 30 #HRERESHE XK= (&)
(Continued)
(b)  In the cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal b)) RIRERERRN HEVE BEERXR
of property, plant and equipment comprise: BB RABRLE:
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net book value B (E 452 51
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME BEKXE
equipment BB (103) (51)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE  BENMERE
and equipment Z P iSWA 349 —
(c)  Non-cash transactions: () FBEXRH:
During the year ended 31st March, 2013, the Group —E-ZFZA=Z+—HBULEFER &
financed acquisition of certain property, plant and & B LA BF 75 ® £912,789,00008 T (Z &
equipment by finance leases of HK$12,789,000 ——F BBEPBEETOE HE
(2012: Nil). e
31 Commitments 31 A
(@) Capital commitments (@ EXREE
Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of AEBERBEERBETHOEDRTA
reporting period contracted but not yet provided for ZEARZOT
is as follows:
Group
£=
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Machinery 25 6,085 215
Furniture and equipment R B2 3% 1 951 255
Construction in progress EEIR 2,119 10,526
9,155 10,996
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31 Commitments (Continued) 31 A&k (&)
(b) Operating lease commitments by REHFEEE
The Group had future aggregate minimum lease REBBRBEAAGZHZ AR B RETF
payments under non-cancellable operating leases of REMEZ AR ERENFTRBRWT

land and buildings, as follows:

Group
£=
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Amounts payable BES:
— within one year — —FUR 18,641 19,683
— later than one year but no later than — BE—FELARAF
five years 3,269 12,171
21,910 31,854
Generally, the Group’s operating leases are for terms AEENKEHEFH KA FER
of 1 to 5 years. Fo
32 Financial guarantees 32 MBER
As at 31st March, 2013, the Company had provided RZE-—=Z=F=ZRA=+—H XARARKET
guarantees in respect of banking facilities of its subsidiaries MERBMERITEEREEMEMLQAER
amounting to approximately HK$421,253,000 (2012: HK$ #7421,253,00058 7T (= & — — 4F : 445,345,000
445,345,000). The facilities utilised by the subsidiaries as BIL) RZE—=F=ZA=+—HEWEBRQ
at 31st March, 2013 amounted to approximately AIE 8 M ZR17(E & #E £234,683,000/ 7T

HK$234,683,000 (2012: HK$234,411,000). (ZF— =% : 234,411,000/ 7T) °
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33

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2013, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$781,723,000 (2012:
HK$826,796,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing and
bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same date
amounted to approximately HK$541,632,000 (2012:
HK$585,860,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

mortgages over the Group’s land and buildings with
a total net book value of approximately
HK$3,388,000 (2012: HK$4,104,000) (note 16(c));

floating charges over the Group’s inventories held
under trust receipts import bank loan arrangements
of approximately HK$29,319,000 (2012:
HK$35,858,000) (note 19);

finance charge over the Group’s plant and
machinery of approximately HK$17,074,000 (2012:

Nil) (note 24); and

guarantees provided by the Company and certain of

its subsidiaries.

e M BRRMEE

33

ROTFEEREERR
R-ZZE-—=F=ZA=+—H AEBEEREH
2EX BER BHBRERRITERFRTE

B @ % #49781,723,0008 T (= T — = F:

826,796,000/ ) c REIH M A B 2 R 1T 15

B %8 #9541,632,0008 (= T — = F:

585,860,000/ 7T) L £ RITE E R 2 W0

T

(i) AEEBIHREFRE EQKEBFAE
#93,388,0007%% 7T (= Z — = 4F : 4,104,000
BT (M EE16(0))

(il AEEZETREEDRITERTHMR
BAEZETEFEEH29,319,0008 L (=%
— — % : 35,858,000/ 7T) (M 5£19) +

i)y "EBEREBBZOBTBENERRY
17,074,000 7L (ZF — ZF « 8) (5%
24) K&

(iv) ARBEREBETFTWEBARAMIEEZER-
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34 Related party transactions 3 BEALZXRS
As at 31st March, 2013, Mr Lam Kwong Yu and his spouse RZTE—=F=ZA=+—HB MArWErEER
beneficially owned approximately 40.17% of the HIBH B AR R AH40.17%8) @R 5 -
Company’s ordinary shares. Ms Yeung Chui beneficially BRELZTRHBARRANTLN7.87%8EBRAD -
owned approximately 17.87% of the Company’s ordinary MEERGBRE AT AEARNRAIES -
shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung are directors of the
Company.
(@) Particulars of significant transactions between (@ ZXAEEHBEALTETZEERS
the Group and related parties HBEOT :
2013 2012
HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET
Operating lease rentals expenses KEHERSER
— Ms. Yeung Chui (note (i) — Hm Rzt (M) 69 66

(i) The Group entered into an operating lease
agreement with Ms. Yeung Chui, a director of
the Company. The transaction was carried out
in the wusual course of business, and in
accordance with the terms of the contract

entered into by the Group and the related
party.

(b) Key management compensation

() AKERBBELL ARAZE
T TEEEREHE LEX
DUE—BREBER - REAR
SRR A B 5T A L2
7

by FEEBAEMEEN

2013 2012

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEX FET

Basic salaries, allowances and others EA#H 2 REM 8,199 8,392
Discretionary bonus B HAREZEL 528 842
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3ERECAR — 57 5E it 35t 2 151 165

8,878 9,399
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